
Emergency Assistance for Rehabilitation and Reconstruction (RRP INO 52316-001) 

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENT  
A. Introduction 

 
1. The primary objective of this Financial Management Assessment (FMA) is to assess 
financial management systems and capacity of the Ministry of Public Works and Housing 
(MPWH), and Ministry of Transport (MOT) as the executing agencies (EA), and the Directorate 
General for Human Settlement (DGHS), MPWH unit in Palu; and the Directorate General for 
Water Resources (DGWR), MPWH through the river basin organization Balai Wilayah Sungai 
Sulawesi III, as the implementing agencies (IAs) under the MPWH; and the Directorate General 
for Civil Aviation, and (ii) the Directorate General for Sea Transport as the IAs under the MOT. 
The FMA encompasses financial planning, accounting, reporting, auditing, funding and 
organization. As the EAs respectively, the MPWH and MOT should plan, develop and maintain 
financial management systems that can provide timely and reliable information for monitoring the 
proposed project towards agreed objectives. As the project financier, ADB is governed by its 
Charter which requires that loan proceeds should be used for its intended purpose with due regard 
to economy and efficiency and meet its obligations with loan repayments.   

2. The FMA was carried out in accordance with ADB guidelines1. The FMA is based on (i) 
updates from that prepared for the Emergency Assistance for Recovery and Rehabilitation from 
Recent Disasters (EARR) and for the same ministries in connection with the Accelerating 
Infrastructure Delivery through Better Engineering Services Project (ESP), the Integrated 
Participatory Development and Management of Irrigation Program loans and the Sewerage 
System Development Project for the Cities of Banda Aceh, Bekasi and Mataram respectively; (ii) 
completed ADB’s financial management assessment questionnaire (FMAQ) through interviews 
with key staff of the EAs; (iii) conducted evaluation of personnel, accounting policies and 
procedures, internal and external auditing, financial reporting and budgeting with the assistance 
of responses to the FMAQ and other documents; (iii) identification of potential risks and mitigation 
measures.  

B. Overview of Indonesia’s Public Finance Management 
 

3. Public Financial Management (PFM) initiatives. According to the 2017 Public 
Expenditure and Financial Accountability Performance Assessment (PEFA), Indonesia has a 
well-established public finance management architecture and is supported by strong and reliable 
systems with  the required functions in place: internal controls, accounting and reporting 
procedures, internal and external audit system, centralization of cash balances and a sound 
reporting system with strengthened accountability and transparency.2 The spending agencies 
have the powers to control budget implementation but are held accountable to meet specific 
performance criteria. In the 2017 PEFA, Indonesia scored ‘A’ on internal control and Indonesia’s 
Supreme Audit Board’s (BPK) audit report found no present instances of non-compliance. The 
assessment shows that 17 of the 31 indicators scored either “A” or “B”, both considered to be 
above the basic alignment with international good practice. The PEFA also identifies some areas 
for improvement, including improving the strategic allocation of resources, and strengthening the 
efficiency of public spending by better linking performance information to planning and budgeting. 
   
4. The Ministry of Finance (MOF) and the National Development Planning Ministry 
(BAPPENAS) have developed a new system called KRISNA, which is a specialized budget 
module that links to the integrated financial management system and allows for the integration of 
                                                           
1 Financial Management and Analysis of Projects, 2005, Financial Management Technical Guidance Note 2015, 
2 https://pefa.org/sites/default/files/ID-May18-PFMPR-Public%20with%20PEFA%20Check.pdf  

http://www.adb.org/Documents/RRPs/?id=52316-001-3
https://pefa.org/sites/default/files/ID-May18-PFMPR-Public%20with%20PEFA%20Check.pdf
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planning, budget execution and performance monitoring of public expenditure. KRISNA was 
implemented for the 2018 budget. This system improves the policy orientation of budgeting and 
provides a concrete, shared framework to ensure clear vertical linkages exist between the national 
development plan and the annual budget. In 2017, the government also synchronized national 
development priorities with budget preparation, execution, monitoring and reporting under a 
unified results framework. 

Table 1: Summary of PEFA Performance Indicators (Indonesia – 2017) 
 

 
      Source: 2017 Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability Performance Assessment. 
 
 

5. MOF implemented the Government Finance Statistics (GFS) standard in national budget 
through Budget Law and Presidential Decree to provide more autonomy and control to budget 
owners (line ministries). Budget reporting use accrual-based accounting since January 2015. 
Transparency of the budget has been enhanced with the key budget documents, including draft 
budgets, six-monthly budget execution reports, and detailed financial notes all available on the 
web. Government’s score in the Open Budget Index has increased from 51% in 2010 to 64% in 
2017.3 Audits by the Supreme Audit Board (BPK - the external auditor) show an improvement in 
the quality of government financial statements. The number of line ministries with statements 
receiving “unqualified” opinion has increased, while the number of those receiving “disclaimers” 
has fallen. The government has also increased transparency by publishing budget data in a 
dedicated portal and by providing additional functional disaggregation of spending into thematic 
areas, such as climate change and gender responsive budgeting. 

6. MOF has implemented the State Treasury and Budget System (SPAN) – an Integrated 
Financial Management Information System (IFMIS). SPAN, supported by the World Bank, 
Government of Japan and the PFM Multi-Donor Trust Fund (MDTF), aims to manage all financial 
transactions data of the central government in a full cycle from budget 
appropriation/allotment/execution up to the production of financial statement. This will ensure 
fiscal data that is timely, robust and reliable. Beginning February 2015, SPAN, as mandated by 
the Presidential Regulation (54/2010), is under implementation by 179 local Treasury offices 
(KPPN) of MOF covering the Central Government agencies (+24,000 spending units) across 
Indonesia. With the SPAN in place, all financial transaction data are recorded in one database 
with real time and online information available at any time required. SPAN permits direct 
connection with line ministries and other users of treasury resources to access and process 
                                                           
3 International Budget Partnership (undated): “Indonesia, Open Budget Index 2017”. 
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financial information, while allowing the Directorate-General of Treasury to meet its obligations 
for treasury management. SPAN has helped to ensure the budget appropriation data (APBN law 
and Perpres) is consistent with the budget allotment data (DIPA) as otherwise any inconsistency 
in data will not be paid/disbursed. SPAN has also put a discipline to both the line ministries and 
the MOF in ensuring there is no spending beyond the budget ceiling for each individual line item. 
Moreover, SPAN will record encumbrance or commitment of the contract in the system, so it helps 
to monitor any delay in disbursement. MOF has also implemented online monitoring of SPAN 
(OM-SPAN) to monitor budget execution on real time basis. 

7. Commitment controls are in place that effectively limit commitments to actual cash 
availability and approved budget allocations. Internal controls have been further strengthened 
with the implementation of the SPAN. The government has also adopted COSO as its control 
framework since August 2008, and Government Regulation (PP) 60/2008 clarified the role of 
internal auditors (BPKP) and required all state institutions to implement the Government Internal 
Control System (GICS) for effective, efficient and accountable management of state funds and 
reliable reporting.4  

8. Badan Pemeriksa Keuangan (BPK), as the supreme audit institution of Indonesia, has 
made steady progress in its mandate, capacity and practices to strengthen integrity and 
accountability in government.5 A peer review conducted by the Dutch Court of Auditors in 2009 
had identified some areas for improvement, mainly the need to improve the readability of audit 
reports and the quality of analysis in the audit. BPK has prepared a new strategic plan for the 
2011–15. The new strategic plan reflects both lessons from the peer review and the vision of the 
new BPK Board. BPK has also prepared a detailed implementation plan to support the execution 
of the strategic plan. BPK has adopted several measures to strengthen auditor professionalism 
and integrity resulting in significant improvement in the quantity and quality of BPK’s audit 
resources, including increases in the number of qualified auditors, representative offices, and in 
the use of information technology. ADB had supported the supreme audit body by through the 
State Audit Reform Sector Development Program.6  

9. The Parliament’s role in shaping the state budget and in overseeing budget processes 
was institutionalized in Law No. 27/2009. Under the Law, the former Budget Committee became 
the Budget Board (Badan Anggaran) and established as a permanent entity in the parliament 
responsible for the endorsement of the state budget. The Public Finance Accountability Board 
(Badan Akuntabilitas Keuangan Negara) was established as a permanent entity in the parliament 
to review audit results of state financial reports prepared by BPK. 

10. Development partners have remained engaged with the government, at both central and 
sub-national level, for strengthening PFM systems in Indonesia, through a broad mix of policy-
based operations, projects and TA activities. Since 2004, budget and treasury reforms have 
remained high on the World Bank agenda through its 8-annual policy-based development policy 
loans (DPL) to the government and supported through parallel co-financing by the Government 
of Japan and ADB with a series of development policy support program (DPSP). The EU, 
Netherlands, Switzerland, Canada, JICA, IMF and USA have complemented this work.  In 2016, 
                                                           
4 Under the regulation, four types of institutions share the responsibility for conducting the government’s internal audit 

function, namely, the BPKP, Inspectorates General, provincial inspectorates and district/city inspectorates. Each of 
these is assigned different roles. 

5 Third amendment of the 1945 Constitution (2001), Law of Audit (2004) and Law on BPK (2006) provide the legal 
basis for public sector auditing by BPK.  

6 ADB. 2004. Report and Recommendation of the President to the Board of Directors: Proposed State Audit Reform 
Sector Development Program to Indonesia. Manila. 
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ADB enhanced support to the government’s governance reform agenda through its Fiscal and 
Public Expenditure Management Program. The program focuses on aligning planning and budget 
preparation as well as fiscal transfers to enable the government to make progress in its 
Sustainable Development Goals commitment.7 ADB also provided support for procurement 
reform through its Stepping Up Investments for Growth Acceleration Program8 and capacity 
building for public finance officers and internal auditors through its State Accountability 
Revitalization Project. 9   

C. Public Financial Management Related to Disaster Response 
 

a. Institutional Arrangement and Coordination 

11. The following laws and regulation apply on the financial management of central 
government’s financial support for the recovery and rehabilitation efforts.  

- Government Regulation No. 24 of 2007 establishing the National and Regional 
Disaster Management Agency.  

- Government Regulations No. 22 of 2008 on the Disaster Aid Financing and 
Management. 

- MOF Regulation No. 127 of 2015 on Budget Classification Governance. 
- Regulation No. 4 of the State Minister of National Development Planning on 

Procedures for Planning, Proposing, Assessing and Monitoring and Evaluating 
Activities Financed by Foreign Loans and Grants. 

- Presidential Decree No 192 of 2014 on the BPKP (Financial and Development 
Supervisory Board) 

- Law No. 15 of 2004 on the Audit of State Financial Management and Responsibility 

12. The National Disaster Management Agency10 (BNPB) assumes the role of the lead 
coordinator in providing immediate humanitarian relief when disaster occurs. BNPB supports the 
local government to produce an ‘Action Plan’ for recovery, rehabilitation and reconstruction.11 The 
Action Plan responds to the detailed ‘damage and needs assessment’, and the financing 
requirements are aligned to the Budget Authorization Document (DIPA). In line with this practice, 
the provincial government of West Nusa Tenggara’s has prepared Action Plan for the 
rehabilitation and reconstruction of the affected areas in the island of Lombok. 

13. Given the scale of the complexity of the disaster in Central Sulawesi, which has 
necessitated relocation of certain affected areas due to liquefaction, the Vice President instructed 
the BAPPENAS to lead the coordination of a Master Plan with technical support from JICA as 
well as ADB and World Bank. The Master Plan, which will include geospatial analysis, will direct 
recovery and reconstruction on a more sustainable approach so that the population of the affected 

                                                           
7 ADB. 2016. Report and Recommendation of the President to the Board of Directors: Proposed Programmatic 

Approach and Policy-Based Loan to the Republic of Indonesia for Subprogram 1 of the Fiscal and Public 
Expenditure Management Program. Manila. 

8 ADB. 2018. Report and Recommendation of the President to the Board of Directors: Proposed Programmatic 
Approach and Policy-Based Loan to the Republic of Indonesia for Subprogram 3 of the Stepping Up Investments 
for Growth Acceleration Program. Manila. 

9    ADB. 2013. Report and Recommendation of the President to the Board of Directors: Proposed Project Loan to the 
Republic of Indonesia for State Accountability Revitalization Project. Manila. 

10 Established by Presidential Regulation No. 8 of 2008.  
11 https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/S2-3_Indonesia.pdf.  
 

https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/S2-3_Indonesia.pdf
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areas are not at risk for another onset of disaster. The first phase Action Plan for Central Sulawesi, 
which will focus on short-term recovery and rehabilitation response is expected to be completed 
by end-2018.  This will be followed by the comprehensive Action Plan that will include 
reconstruction and relocation. 

b. Disaster Response and Budget12 

14. The source of emergency response funds during relief stage, covering the first weeks after 
a disaster, depends on whether the event is declared a National Disaster or disaster of national 
significance. If it is declared a national disaster or the local government lacks capacity, the Central 
Government takes responsibility through BNPB with line ministries and the BNPB disbursing 
resources through their “On call” funds for emergency response. “On call” funds are a separate 
line of the budget that can be engaged to support post-disaster early recovery activities while 
emergency status is still in effect. If not declared a national disaster, normally local governments 
provide financing through their contingency budgets. In the 2019 budget, on call funds stand at 
Rp5 trillion.  

15. During the recovery and rehabilitation phase funds are available through the Rehabilitation 
and Reconstruction funding assistance for major disasters. Every year, the government sets aside 
a specific budget allocation for rehabilitation and reconstruction. The use of these funds requires 
parliamentary approval as the fund is drawn from the State’s General Treasury. In 2019, the 
recovery and rehabilitation fund stand at Rp 10 trillion. Resources for reconstruction are made 
available by the Central Government. These funds typically come from the reallocation/allocation 
of capital expenditure budgets of next fiscal years. 

 
Figure 1: Disaster Related Financing 

 
Source: Ministry of Finance 

 

16. The Action Plan for each disaster details the financing needs for recovery and 
rehabilitation and the disbursement of funds from the state treasury are based on the Action Plan. 
Within the parameters and needs identified by the Action Plan, funds generally follow function. 
Depending on the activity, funds are made available for withdrawal to the relevant line Ministries, 
government agencies and local government from the state treasury or its offices in the province 
and district level. Funds withdrawal process includes application to the Ministry of Finance for 
                                                           
12 https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/Indonesia_DRFI_Report_FINALOct11.pdf. 

https://www.gfdrr.org/sites/default/files/publication/Indonesia_DRFI_Report_FINALOct11.pdf
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funds to undertake activities approved in the Action Plan. Treasury office at the provincial and 
district level undertake necessary internal controls as well as physically monitor the 
implementation against the withdrawals. 

c. Financial Reporting and Auditing 

17. BPK has expertise and experience of auditing disaster related funds per the international 
audit standard. Following the Aceh tsunami disaster, BKP has audited disaster related funds and 
was involved in developing the international audit standards for disaster related aid (ISSAI 5520). 
ISSAI 5520 provides guidance and good practice for Supreme Audit Institutions on the audit of 
disaster-related aid. It covers recovery, relief, rehabilitation and reconstruction activities. BPK can 
perform audit of disaster related fund as per ISSAI 5520. 

D. Sector’s Financial Management Assessment 
  

18. The MPWH13 is the key ministry in charge of the human settlements and associated 
infrastructure including housing, education facilities, health facilities, water supplies (treatment 
and distribution facilities) and sanitation facilities as well as water infrastructure (irrigation, river) 
and roads/highways, while the MOT will be the key ministry in charge of transport infrastructure, 
i.e. port, which will be supported in the EAL. Both ministries prepare a five-year strategic plan, 
which includes planning and budgeting for the sectoral program. The plan is developed based on 
the needs of implementing units at the national and subnational level. Preparation is linked to 
national priorities in the Medium-Term Development Plan (RPJMN) prepared by the BAPPENAS. 
Every year, each implementing units prepare annual work plan (RK K/L) that feed into the national 
and subnational budgets which includes budget estimates for investments and operations and 
maintenance of assets.  For financial management, each ministry is responsible and accountable 
for their own financial administration. Government Regulation (PP) No. 27 Year 2014 regulates 
the management of state/sub-national assets, whereby the line ministry is mandated to manage, 
including operations and maintenance, of state assets procured/constructed by the ministry. 
Irrigation, water supplies and their infrastructure are under the utilization/management of MPWH, 
while ports are under the management of MOT.  
 
19. Annually, the MPWH receives the largest budget among ministries. For FY 2019 the 
Anggaran Pendapatan dan Belanja Negara (APBN) budgeted allocation is Indonesian Rupiah 
(IDR) 110.731 trillion (approximately $7 billion), while for 2018 it was IDR 102.01 trillion 
(approximately $6.8 billion). The 3 operational DGs (i.e., DGWR, DGHS, and DGH) share the 
largest allocation. The performance of MPWH in budget absorption is relatively high. In 2017, 
MWPH was able to absorb 90.74% of its total allocated expenditures in the national budget. The 
audited financial report opinion of the MPWH for FY2016 and FY 2017 are unqualified. 
 
20. The country’s present National Medium-Term Development Plan 2015–2019 (RPJMN 
2015–2019) under the current administration places huge investments on infrastructure 
development for physical connectivity and accessibility which includes integration of remote and 
frontier regions by building seaports and airports14. MOT, as the key ministry in charge of transport 

                                                           
13 The MPWH is responsible for regulating the construction and investment of infrastructure in Indonesia, in accordance 

with Government Regulation (PP no. 24, 2010) and PP no. 29 2010. The tasks of the ministry, in relation to the 
construction and investment in infrastructure are to: (i) formulate; (ii) enact; and (iii) implement policies in the field of 
public works, nationwide. 

14 In 2016, Indonesia has 230 international and domestic airports, 111 commercial sea ports, and 550 ferry terminals 
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(includes airport15 and seaport16), in its 2014-2019 strategic plan (RENSTRA) requires IDR 
209,232 trillion ($13 billion) for its funding needs to build ports infrastructure including its 
management support. In 2016, budget allocation for MOT was IDR 47.94 trillion and budget 
absorption was 86.39%.     

 
E. Overview of the Executing Agencies, Financial Management System and 

Institutional Context 
a. Brief Description of Project Implementation Arrangements 

21. The Ministry of Public Works and Housing (MPWH) and Ministry of Transportation (MOT) 
will be the executing agencies (EAs). The implementing agencies (IAs) under the MPWH are (i) 
the Central Sulawesi Settlement Infrastructure Agency, Directorate General for Human 
Settlement (DGHS), MPWH; and (ii) the Directorate General for Water Resources (DGWR), 
MPWH through the river basin organization Balai Wilayah Sungai Sulawesi III. The IAs under the 
MOT are: (i) the Directorate General for Civil Aviation, and (ii) the Directorate General for Sea 
Transport. 

22. Under the project, each EA will establish a Central Project Management Unit 
(CPMUCPMU) to lead overall project implementation at the ministry level, including consolidation 
of activities and reporting from implementing agencies, selection and appraisal of subprojects 
according to subproject selection criteria; consolidation of quarterly and annual reports, including 
audited annual project financial statements. 

23. The CPMU will be responsible to prepare consolidated project financial reports under the 
EA with inputs from financial reports prepared by each IAs. It will then cause the detailed 
consolidated project financial statements to be audited in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing and with the Government's audit regulations, by an independent auditor acceptable 
to ADB. The risk of weak internal coordination will be mitigated through the development of clear 
working arrangements and protocols as part of the project implementation. 

24. Each IA will then establish project implementing units (PIUs) headed by a project director 
and staffed with social and environmental safeguards, gender, procurement, financial 
management and technical personnel. The PIUs will also be responsible to ensure that activities 
through subnational agencies are fully synergized with the emergency assistance loan and will 
provide overall supervision of implementation. Engineering and Management Consultant (EMC) 
will be set up under each IAs for all subprojects under its purview. 

25. The director of the directorate (project owners or Satkers) at which the EMC will be set up 
will assign a staff member of that directorate to be responsible for financial management issues 
under the EARRP17. This will include manage financial reporting and accountability aspects 
(withdrawal applications, financial reports, audits, bank account statement, as well as financial 
management matters per ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook. This staff member will be 
supported by the financial management consultants engaged under the EMC.  

b. Public Financial Management at Ministry of Public Works and Housing 
(MPWH) 

                                                           
15 Law 1 Year 2009. 
16 Law 17 Year 2008. 
17 5 Based on ministerial decree, every year the authorized budget user (Kepala Satker, Echelon II) issues a 
decree regarding the organization and appointment of officers for financial management at the Satuan kerja (Satker). 
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26. Human resource and staffing. Each DG will assign one staff member at the directorate 
where the CPMU will be set up to be responsible for the overall financial accountability at that DG 
for the use of the EARRP funds. This staff member will be supported by a financial management 
specialist for the respective DG. The national consultant(s) will also support, as required, the 
project owners at the respective DG in financial management issues. 

27. Planning and budgeting. Budgets include physical and financial targets. The budgets 
are prepared for all significant activities in enough detail to provide a meaningful tool with which 
to monitor subsequent performance. The actual expenditures are compared to the budget with 
reasonable frequency, and explanations are required for significant variations from the budget. 
Approvals for variations from the budget are required in advance. Budgets are prepared by the 
planning official, approved by the minister, and submitted to MOF for final approval by the 
parliament (DPR). The procedures are in place to plan infrastructure project preparation activities, 
collect information from the project/budget management units (Satuan Kerja or Satkers) in charge 
of infrastructure project implementation, and prepare the budgets. The infrastructure project plans 
and budgets of project activities are realistic, based on valid assumptions, and developed by 
experienced staff, who may be supported by consultants. 

28. The Minister of the MPWH is considered as the budget user (pengguna anggaran). The 
budget user can delegate his/her authorities in using the budget to the officers named as kuasa 
pengguna anggaran (KPA) or Satker. The head of a Satker is appointed through the decree 
issued by the minister.  

29. The launch of SPAN, the automated financial management information system, enables 
management of the full cycle of budget, appropriation, allotment, execution and financial 
statements from 2015 onwards. The SPAN allows on-line generation in MS Excel format of: (i) 
the report on special account status; (ii) balance sheets on a daily and weekly basis; and (iii) the 
list disbursements under payment warrants. 

30. Accounting Policies and Procedures. The project owners (Satker) at each DG will 
maintain separate project accounts and records by funding sources for all expenditures incurred 
in the EARRP at DG level. In accordance with Minister of Finance Decree 213/2013 (on the 
Government accounting system and financial reporting),18 and Director General of Treasury 
Regulation No. 42/PB/2014 regarding the Guidelines for the Preparation of Ministry/Agency’s 
Financial Report/Statement the EA has an accounting system that allows for the proper recording 
of financial transactions, including the allocation of expenditures in accordance with the respective 
components, disbursement categories, and sources of funds. Controls are in place concerning 
the preparation and approval of transactions, ensuring that all transactions are correctly made 
and adequately explained. The chart of accounts is adequate to properly account for and report 
on sub-project activities and disbursement categories. Cost allocations to funding sources are 
made accurately and in accordance with established agreements. The general ledger and 
subsidiary ledgers are reconciled and in balance. All accounting and supporting documents are 
retained on a permanent basis in systematic manner that allows authorized users easy access. 
Access is possible by authorized personnel, but the documents are not stored in a centralized 
computerized database. 

31. The Office of the Secretary General (OSG) and the DGs have an adequate policy and 
procedures manual to guide activities and ensure staff accountability. The financial management 
arrangement at the planning directorate of each IA shows adequate staffing as well as division of 

                                                           
18 The government system is in line with the International Financial Reporting Standards and will be applied for project 

reporting (as required by ADB’s Guidelines on Financial Management and Analysis of Projects). 
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responsibilities in fiduciary aspects to avoid conflict of interest and to ensure discretion, 
transparency, and accountability. The accounting policy and procedures manuals are updated for 
the specifics of individual infrastructure project activities. The procedures exist to ensure that only 
authorized persons can alter or establish a new accounting principle, policy, or procedure to be 
used by the EA. There are written policies and procedures covering all routine financial 
management and related administrative activities. The policies and procedures however, do not 
clearly define conflict of interest and related party transactions (real and apparent) and safeguards 
to protect the organization from fraud and corruptions.  

32. Financial Reporting Systems, including Use of Information Technology. The 
financial reporting at MPWH can be presented as follows:  

(i) Unit Akuntasi Kuasa Pengguna Anggaran (UAKPA)–Satkers accounting unit (the 
smallest unit within the ministry accounting system) is required to prepare financial 
reports. Satkers are usually attached to a directorate level (the immediate 
supervisor of a head of Satker is a director).19 Projects financed under foreign 
financing are usually included under the strategic program Satkers. Hence, for 
EARRP implementation, it is likely that each DG will establish an EARRP Satker to 
manage/implement the EARRP budget/project.  

(ii) Unit Akuntansi Pembantu Pengguna Anggaran Wilyah (UAPPA-W). These are 
Satkers at regional/provincial level, which are assigned to implement MPWH 
programs in provinces.  

(iii) Unit Akuntansi Pembantu Pengguna Anggaran Eselon I (UAPPA-E1): a unit at the 
directorate general (Echelon 1) level, which is responsible for compiling and 
coordinating financial statements/reports from the Satkers (UAKPA and UAPPA-
W).  

(iv) Unit Akuntasi Pengguna Anggaran (UAPA), a unit at the ministerial level, which is 
appointed as the reporting entity of the Ministry and responsible for submitting the 
ministry’s financial report to the Parliament and to the BPK (Audit Board of the 
Republic of Indonesia). The BPK will audit the report and provide its opinion.  

33. The relations of these units and the software they use are charted in Figure 2. 

34. The Ministry of Finance (in accordance with PP 71/2010) has developed an accounting 
system called Sistem Akuntansi Instansi Berbasis Akrual (SAIBA), which is an accrual-based 
accounting system for government agencies. The SAIBA enables preparation of financial reports 
in stages starting from the Satkers, regions, Echelon 1, and ministry level. This accounting system 
was developed by the Directorate General of Treasury of the Ministry of Finance. It is mandatory 
for use by all Satkers in Indonesia. This system enables production of following reports: 

(i) Budget execution reports: (i) disbursed fund report; (ii) statement of changes in 
balance budget surplus (Laporan Perubahan SAL). 

(ii) Financial reports: (i) balance sheet; (ii) operational report; (iii) statement of equity 
change; and (iv) cash flow statement. 

(iii) Notes to the financial statements 
 

                                                           
19 For example, within DGHS, normally at the directorate level there will be Satkers for strategic programs and Satkers 

for routine activities. 
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35. The Satker’s accounting officer is authorized to access SAIBA and communicate with the 
State Treasury: this officer has a password and access permit to State Treasury Office (KPPN), 
for the monitoring of financial reports. Another Satker officer is authorized to communicate with 
KPPN and is the official signatory for payment orders (PP-SPM). 

36. The following functional responsibilities will be performed by different units or persons: (i) 
authorization to execute a transaction; (ii) recording of the transaction; (iii) custody of assets 
involved in the transaction; (iv) functions of ordering, receiving, accounting for, and paying for 
goods and services are appropriately segregated; and (v) bank reconciliations are prepared by 
someone other than those who make or approve payments.  

Figure 2. Financial Reporting System of MPWH

 

37. Internal control and audit. The internal audit organization at the MPWH is headed by the 
Inspectorate General who has an on-going responsibility to monitor and report on the accounting 
and related operations of the MPWH. Accordingly, officers of the Inspectorate General conduct 
internal audits to prevent, correct, and follow-up problems. An internal audit report is done at least 
once a year. Upon receipt of the internal audit report, the Satkers prepare answers and 
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clarifications for all matters raised in the internal audit report. Monitoring and evaluation of overall 
auditing matters at each DG is performed by the Finance Division of DGs. The results of the 
internal audit should be submitted to the Supreme Audit Board of the Republic of Indonesia (BPK) 
and to the Minister of the MPWH. The BPK normally considers the Inspectorate General audit 
report as a reference. The BPK executes auditing according to its own methodology not bound to 
the internal audit report. The finance division at the Secretariat of MPWH DGs normally meets 
twice a year with Satkers, usually after the audit by the Inspectorate General or the Financial and 
Development Supervisory Agency (BPKP), or before the BPK audit.  

38. The internal control system comprises all organizational activities concerning the 
determination and evaluation of what has been achieved and how far implementation agrees with 
the plans and policies of management. The system of internal control implemented by the MPWH 
focuses on: (i) safeguarding the organization's property; (ii) securing accurate and reliable 
accounting information; (iii) promoting operational efficiency; and (iv) fostering compliance with 
managerial policies. To address these concerns, the Ministry requires submission of weekly, 
monthly, quarterly, half-year and annual reports, so that irregularities and weaknesses in 
implementation can be quickly identified and remedied. It monitors projects through computerized 
reports introduced in the MPWH’s DGs. It also carries out field inspections of work in progress in 
order to promote economic, efficient, and effective methods. Likewise, it conducts coordination 
for the evaluation of performance, discussion of construction problems, and planning for future 
activities.  

39. External audit. The audit of the MPWH is within the mandate of the BPK (Supreme Audit 
Board of Indonesia), as set out in Article 23 of the 1945 Constitution and in the Act No. 5 of 1973 
on BPK. The audit objectives of the BPK with respect to the activities of the MPWH cover 
programs or sectors of development which are directly connected with the welfare of individual 
citizens and the public interest. These audit objectives, among others, are selected from problems 
set out in the Broad Outlines of State Policy and represent material for consideration in the Five-
Year Work Plan and the Annual Work Plan of the BPK. In carrying out its audit activities, the BPK 
follows audit procedures which are set out in Auditing Standards for the Audit of the Accountability 
of State Finance. These audit procedures are: (i) the preliminary audit, where data and information 
are collected to obtain indications of problems; (ii) on the basis of the preliminary audit, the 
preparation of an audit program for implementation of a detailed audit; and (iii) the detailed audit 
comprising more intensive examinations of indicators already identified during the preliminary 
audit to ascertain irregularities and their causes. The audit methodology involves the use of 
sampling methods in selected areas to be audited. The audit involves a review of financial reports, 
contracts and their supporting documents, and physical checks in the field. The Asian 
Organization of Supreme Audit Institutions, however, noted two weaknesses in the conduct of the 
external audit by the BPK. The first is in the field of technical engineering knowledge, as most 
BPK auditors do not have an engineering educational background. Second is the very limited time 
provided to auditors compared to the much longer period required to carry out an extensive audit 
of public works. 

40. Since 2011, financial statements of ADB-funded projects have been audited by BPK. 
ADB’s loan agreements require that the audit of project financial statements from executing 
agencies by an independent auditor acceptable to ADB. The BPK is an acceptable external 
auditor for ADB-funded projects in Indonesia. State audit standards (SPKN) are also followed in 
project audits. The audit requirements for foreign-funded projects are governed by the loan 
agreement. BPK, through the Guide for Audit of Foreign Loans and Grants 2014, provides 
guidance for auditors in (i) planning the financial audit of foreign-funded projects; (ii) carrying out 
the audits and gathering evidence; and (iii) providing audit opinions. BPK’s opinion on the ADB’s 
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on-going funded projects financial statements for 2017 were unqualified, however some of the 
findings raised in the auditor’s reports on Internal Control System and Compliance with the 
Statutory Regulations require addressing.  

41. Payments. Invoice-processing procedures provide: (i) copies of purchase orders and 
receiving reports to be obtained directly from issuing departments; (ii) comparison of invoice 
quantities, prices, and terms, with those indicated on the purchase order and with records of 
goods actually received; (iii) comparison of invoice quantities with those indicated on the receiving 
reports; and (iv) checking the accuracy of calculations. All invoices are stamped PAID, dated, 
reviewed and approved, and marked for account code assignment. Controls exist for the 
preparation of the payroll, and changes to the payroll are properly authorized.    

c. Public Financial Management at Ministry of Transportation (MOT)  

42. Financial management functions within MOT fall under the auspices of the office of 
Secretariat General which has specific bureaus and divisions in charge of planning, budgeting, 
finance, accounting, reporting, as well as procurement. Under the project, the MOT will establish 
a Central Project Management Unit (CPMU) under the Planning Bureau of the Secretariat General 
to lead overall project implementation at the ministry level, including consolidation of activities and 
reporting from implementing agencies, selection and appraisal of subprojects according to 
subproject selection criteria; consolidation of quarterly and annual reports, including audited 
annual project financial statements. 

43. Human resource and staffing. MOT’s structural organisation in charge of financial 
management is set in MOT Regulation Number PM 189 of 2015 concerning Organization and 
Administration of the MOT comprising of Finance Division, Subdivision of Budget, Subdivision of 
Treasury, and Subdivision of Accounting. This appears to be an appropriate structure. The 
functional lines of responsibility are suitable, and the divisions/subdivisions are adequately 
staffed.  

44. The accounting and finance staff are generally well-qualified, with most officers, 
particularly senior staff members, holding relevant degrees and having extensive experience in 
accounting, program accounting, and financial management. Prior to assuming responsibility, 
MOT requires adequate in-house training and certification by MOT’s Human Resources 
Development Agency as well as external training conducted by MOF and BPKP. Every year, MOT 
sends its relevant staff to MOF’s Training Center to take financial management related training 
and certification.        

45. Planning and budgeting. MOT has clearly defined planning and budgeting procedures 
which falls under the Office of Secretariat General (Setjen)’s Bureau of Planning, including 
preparation and coordination of annual plans (programs and budgets) to be financed by foreign 
loans to be earmarked in the MOT’s budget implementation list (DIPA) with inputs from technical 
work units (IAs) for submission and approval from MOF (MOT Regulation PM No. 117/2017).    

46. Accounting policies and procedures. The standard accounting applies to MOT is the 
government accounting standard (SAP) which is widely applicable to central government’s line 
ministries in line with the Government Regulation (PP) No. 71 Year 2010. Internally, MOT further 
defines its accounting system that allows for a proper recording of project financial statement 
based on MOT Regulation (PM) No. 80 of 2014 concerning Procedures for Administration of 
Budget Implementation including physical outputs.  
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47. Accounting function in MOT is carried out by a division under the Finance Bureau of the 
office of the Secretariat General. The Accounting Division has the task of carrying out verification 
and bookkeeping affairs, as well as the preparation of materials for the Revenue and Expenditure 
Budget Realization Report (LRA) and the preparation of material for revenue and expenditure 
budget accountability reports within the MOT. The functional responsibility of the accounting 
division includes:  

 
(i) preparation of document verification materials and evaluating the realization of 

the implementation of the revenue and expenditure budget and follow-up on the 
results of the inspection within the MOT; 

(ii) preparation of bookkeeping, preparation of calculations and reporting as well as 
accountability for the revenue and expenditure budget within the MOT; 

(iii) preparation of material for implementing the government accounting system for 
the revenue and expenditure budget within the MOT. 

 
48. The project will use MOT accounting system which is considered as well functioned and 
standardized by MOF. The system is capable to maintain contract-wise accounting records to 
indicate gross value of contract, and any amendments, variations and escalations, payments 
made, and undisbursed balances. The records are also consistent with physical 
outputs/deliverables of the contract.  

49. Financial reporting. MOT’s financial reporting follows the Government Regulation (PP) 
No. 71/2010 which applies the government accounting standard (SAP) and internal control 
principles. The financial reports are presented in accrual basis. Based on the Ministry of Finance 
Regulation PMK 222/PMK.05/2016 concerning the Central Financial Reporting, MOT has been 
using computerized financial accounting and reporting system which is called SAIBA or Accrual-
based Accounting System. MOT is equipped with computerized application (software) that is 
capable to directly generate periodic financial statements. The system automatically produces 
necessary project financial reports such as balance sheet, operational statement, statement of 
equity. 

50. Internal control and audit. MOT is one out of 14 pilot ministries introducing the 
Assessment Team for Internal Control of Financial Reporting (PIPK) Level of Accounting Unit 
Budget Users (UAPA). PIPK assessment uses a control self-assessment (CSA) method to 
determine the effectiveness of internal control of financial reporting (PIPK). The Team 
assessment resulted in three criteria namely effective financial reporting, effective with 
exceptions, or with weaknesses. Recent assessment identified risks in the preparation of financial 
statements including the lack of human resources that has capacity to prepare financial 
statements, inconsistency in presenting financial statements, and standardized business process 
in preparing financial statements.  

51. Internal audit within the ministry is performed by its Inspectorate General which is an 
echelon 1 reporting to the Minister. MOT has applied a Government Internal Control System 
(GICS) as defined in MOT Regulation No. 25 Year 2018 following the GICS’ legal umbrella of PP 
60/2008. MOT’s GICS governs furthermore, the Internal Audit Charter of PM 24 Year 2018.  
MOT’s internal auditors are certified as Internal Auditor Function (JFA) which is mandatory 
requirement prior to assuming duty as an internal auditor set by BPKP.  

52. External audit. MOT’s financial statements are subject to an external audit conducted by 
the Supreme Audit Institution (BPK). The audit standard follows audit procedures which are set 
out in Auditing Standards for the Audit of the Accountability of State Finance. The external audit 
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is to obtain reasonable assurance about the quality of the financial statement and determine if it 
matches the books of accounts. No significant accountability issues have been identified in recent 
audit reports, and the audit opinions for the past five years (2013-2017) have been unqualified. 
There are no outstanding audit findings that have not been addressed by MOT. Financial reports 
are prepared annually ended in December each year and submitted to BPK for audit purpose by 
May the following year. Audit reports by BPK are completed by June each year.   

Figure 3. Finance Bureau’s Organizational Chart 

  

DIVISION HEAD OF 
BUDGET  

DIVISION HEAD OF 
ACCOUNTING 

DIVISION HEAD OF 
TREASURY 

DIVISION HEAD OF 
EQUIPMENT 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF EQUIPMENT FOR 

AIR 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND SUPPORT 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF EQUIPMENT FOR 

LAND 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND RAILWAY  

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF EQUIPMENT FOR 

WATER 
TRANSPORTATION 

BUREAU HEAD OF FINANCE 

 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF BUDGET FOR AIR 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND SUPPORT 

 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF ACCOUNTING 

FOR LAND 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND RAILWAY  

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF TREASURY FOR 

AIR 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND SUPPORT 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF TREASURY FOR 

WATER 
TRANSPORTATION 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF TREASURY FOR 

LAND 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND RAILWAY  

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF BUDGET FOR 

WATER 
TRANSPORTATION 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF BUDGET FOR 

LAND 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND RAILWAY  

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF ACCOUNTING 

FOR AIR 
TRANSPORTATION 

AND SUPPORT 

SUB-DIVISION HEAD 
OF ACCOUNTING 

FOR WATER 
TRANSPORTATION 



15 
 

F. Disbursement Arrangements, Funds Flow Mechanism  
53. The loan proceeds will be disbursed in accordance with the ADB’s Loan Disbursement 
Handbook (2015, as amended from time to time), and detailed arrangements agreed upon 
between the Government and ADB in the EARRP’s project administration manual. The 
Directorates General (DG) involved in the implementation will maintain separate accounts and 
records for the EARRP. Project staff will make use of the ADB’s disbursement training to help 
ensure efficient disbursement and fiduciary control.  

54. Pursuant to the ADB's Safeguard Policy Statement (SPS) (2009), ADB funds may not be 
applied to the activities described on the ADB Prohibited Investment Activities List set forth at 
Appendix 5 of the SPS. The DGs will ensure that EARRP proceeds are spent in compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations of Indonesia and will apply the prohibited investment activities list 
to the EARRP, if and when applicable. 

55. Advance Account Procedure. The procedure for advance account will follow the 
guidelines of the Director General of Treasury, Ministry of Finance (MOF) through the following 
steps:  

(i) Payment to Advance Account by ADB: The IAs submits a withdrawal application 
(WA) based on the forecast expenditures for the next 6 months, along with the 
supporting documents to the Directorate of State Cash Management (PKN) of 
MOF. The PKN authorizes the request and submit the WA to ADB for further 
internal processing. ADB remits the funds to the special account at Bank 
Indonesia. 

(ii) Payment to Contractor, Supplier, Consultant: The contractor, supplier, or the 
consultant submit an invoice to the IAs. The IAs authorizes the payment order 
SPM) after checking the invoice details and submits the SPM to the Office of State 
Treasury Service (KPPN). The KPPN approves the SPM and issues a payment 
voucher (SP2D) through SPAN instructing the operational bank of the Treasury to 
make a direct payment.  

(iii) Liquidation and Replenishment from ADB: The IA submits a WA, along with the 
supporting documents to the PKN which then authorizes the request and submits 
the WA to ADB for further internal processing. After verification by ADB, the CTLA 
authorizes the WA to replenish to the special account. After receiving CTLA’s 
authorization, ADB Treasury Department remits funds to the special account. 
 

56. Direct Payment. The procedure for direct payment will follow the guidelines of the Director 
General of Treasury, Ministry of Finance (MOF) through the following steps: 

(i) The payment request from contractors or consultants or vendors will be reviewed 
and processed by the related Satker.  

(ii) Once it is accepted, the Satker will issue a letter of instruction to pay to the Office 
of State Treasury Service (KPPN) under the Director General of Treasury. 

(iii) The KPPN will verify the SPMs and then issue letter of instruction to liquidate 
(SP2D) and transfer the budget to the contractor’s, consultant’s or vendor’s bank 
account. 
 

57.  The EARRP will have three (3) budget users at the MPWH: the DGWR, and DGHS; and 
two (2) budget users at the MOT. Each budget holder will establish a Satker (Authorized Budget 
User at each DG, including a commitment officer (PPK). The PPK will be responsible for 
procurement (i.e., selection of the project management consultants, selection of the panel of 
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consultants, and procurement of goods) and managing the payment for all goods and consultant 
services procured under the EARRP.  
 
G. Risk Analysis and Mitigation Measures 

 
58. The pre-mitigated financial management risk level for the project is high mainly due to 
complex implementation arrangements and the limited experience with ADB project management 
for some implementing agencies, which contribute to the risk rating. Overall, an emergency 
project has high risk overlooking FM systems and controls due to focus on quick implementation. 
These projects require FM Specialist support and oversight during implementation to address 
risks and mitigation activities identified in this Financial Management Assessment (Table 2 and 
Table 3).  

59. Major fiduciary risks identified are considered manageable due to the following mitigation 
measures: (i) recruitment of a FM consultant firm to support EA in standard procedures 
development and preparation of Project financial statements; (ii) recruitment of a EMC to support 
the DGs in all fiduciary aspects of the EARRP implementation on a daily basis and provide 
necessary on-the-job capacity building; (iii) ensuring CPMU’s responsibility for aligning the project 
preparation schedules with the budgeting process. 

Table 2: Financial Management, Internal Control, Risk Assessment and Mitigating Action 
Plan - MPWH 

Risk Description Risk 
Rating 

Mitigation Measures or  
Risk Management Plan 

Responsibility Timing 

A. Country / Sector Risk   
Lack of capacity at 
subnational level 

S a. Establish CPMU at 
ministry level to coordinate 
implementation at 
local/provincial level 
b. Development partners’ 
continuous support to 
strengthen the public 
financial management 
systems in Indonesia 
through policy-based, 
projects, and technical 
assistance activities. 

a. EAs a. prior to 
project 
implementation 

Some government 
procedures for 
accounting and 
financial reporting 
have weaknesses, 
i.e., different 
system and 
regulation between 
central government 
(line ministry) and 
local government. 

M a. Establish coordination 
between central level (line 
ministry) and agencies at 
local levels of government. 
b. Build capacity and 
strengthen 
monitoring in financial 
management 
and reporting. 

a. EAs a. Q4 2019 

Overall Inherent 
Risk 

M    



17 
 

Risk Description Risk 
Rating 

Mitigation Measures or  
Risk Management Plan 

Responsibility Timing 

B. Project Risk   
Reporting and 
Monitoring  
Findings raised in 
the auditor’s 
reports not timely 
addressed 

S EA to ensure all findings 
raised in External Auditors’ 
reports are properly 
addressed and closed prior 
to the subsequent financial 
year end. 

MPWHS and 
IAs 

 

throughout 
project 
implementation 
 

Funds Flow 
Late availability of 
funds during 
Project 
implementation 

S Fund flow procedures and 
disbursement 
arrangements to be 
discussed and agreed with 
Government and EAs to 
avoid any delays in 
replenishment of advance 
accounts and 
disbursements  

MOF and ADB during loan 
negotiations 

Human Resource 
and Staffing 
Existing EA staff 
will be assigned to 
EARR 
implementation. 
There is no enough 
information on 
availability of staff 
and their 
experience in 
projects FM 

M a. EA to properly assess 
FM resource requirements 
for the Project and ensure 
CPMUs and PIUs are 
staffed adequately 
b. Trainings and capacity 
building activities to be 
delivered to staff involved 
into Project implementation 

EAs and ADB a. prior to loan 
effectiveness 
b. throughout 
project 
implementation 

Human Resource 
and Staffing 
Unclear job 
descriptions or 
delineated roles of 
the project staff to 
affect 
accountability 

M EAs and IAs to establish 
clear organizational 
structure of the CPMUs 
and PIUs 

EAs and IAs prior to loan 
effectiveness 

Implementing 
Entity 
Inefficient 
coordination and 
information flow 
between the EAs, 
IAs and PIUs. 

M a. Establishment of Project 
Coordination 
Implementation Units 
(CPMU) at each EA to 
ensure regular 
coordination, 
communication and 
resolution of issues.  
b. Development of clear 
working arrangements and 
protocols. 

Project 
Steering 

Committee, 
EAs 

prior to loan 
effectiveness 
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Risk Description Risk 
Rating 

Mitigation Measures or  
Risk Management Plan 

Responsibility Timing 

Internal Control 
The policies and 
procedures of EA 
do not clearly 
define conflict of 
interest and related 
party transactions 
and safeguards to 
protect the 
organization from 
fraud and 
corruptions. 

M EA to establish relevant 
procedures and policies. 

MPWH 2019-2020 

External Audit 
Limited time 
provided to 
auditors compared 
to the much longer 
period required to 
carry out an 
extensive audit of 
public works 

M EAs to ensure timely 
submission of project 
financial statements for 
audit  

EAs throughout 
project 
implementation 

Internal Audit 
 

L    

Information 
Systems 
 

L    

Overall Project 
Risk 

M    

Overall 
(Combined) Risk 

M    

* H = High; S = Substantive; M = Moderate; L = Low or Negligible. 

Table 3: Financial Management, Internal Control, Risk Assessment and Mitigating Action 
Plan - MOT 

Risk Description Risk 
Rating 

Mitigation Measures or  
Risk Management Plan 

Responsibility Timing 

A. Country / Sector Risk   
Lack of capacity at 
subnational level 

S a. Establish CPCU at 
ministry level to coordinate 
implementation at 
local/provincial level 
b. Development partners’ 
continuous support to 
strengthen the public 
financial management 
systems in Indonesia 
through policy-based, 

a. EAs a. prior to 
project 
implementation 
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Risk Description Risk 
Rating 

Mitigation Measures or  
Risk Management Plan 

Responsibility Timing 

projects, and technical 
assistance activities. 

Some government 
procedures for 
accounting and 
financial reporting 
have weaknesses, 
i.e., different 
system and 
regulation between 
central government 
(line ministry) and 
local government. 

M a. Establish coordination 
between central level (line 
ministry) and agencies at 
local levels of government. 
b. Build capacity and 
strengthen 
monitoring in financial 
management 
and reporting. 

a. EAs a. 4Q 2019 

Overall Inherent 
Risk 

M    

B. Project Risk   
Reporting and 
Monitoring  
Limited EA 
capacity for 
preparation of 
financial 
statements due to 
lack of staff 
capacity and 
standardized 
business 
processes; 
inconsistency in 
presenting financial 
statements 

H Executing Agency to 
ensure: 
a. CPMU and PIUs are 
properly staffed with 
qualified resources; 
b. FM consultant firm is 
hired for the Project 
financial statements 
preparation 
c. Standardised financial 
reporting procedures and 
FM manual are developed 
and implemented 
d. Training on standard 
procedures are delivered 
to staff involved 

 
a. MOT  
b. MOT 
c. MOT  
d. MOT and 
ADB 

 
a. within one 
month of loan 
effectiveness 
b. within 3 
months of loan 
effectiveness 
c. within one 
year from loan 
effectiveness 
d. throughout 
implementation 
period 
 

Limited experience 
of the EA and IAs 
with 
implementation of 
ADB-funded 
projects  

S Recruitment of EAL-
financed project 
management consultant 
firms to support the EA and 
IAs with implementation of 
the project, including 
assistance in financial 
management 

MOT From the 
beginning of 
the project 

Funds Flow 
Late availability of 
funds during 
Project 
implementation 

S Fund flow procedures and 
disbursement 
arrangements to be 
discussed and agreed with 
Government and EAs to 
avoid any delays in 
replenishment of advance 

MOF and ADB a. during loan 
negotiations 
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Risk Description Risk 
Rating 

Mitigation Measures or  
Risk Management Plan 

Responsibility Timing 

accounts and 
disbursements  

Human Resource 
and Staffing 
Existing EA staff 
will be assigned to 
EARR 
implementation. 
There is no enough 
information on 
availability of staff 
and their 
experience in 
projects FM 

M a. EA to properly assess 
FM resource requirements 
for the Project and ensure 
CPMUs and PIUs are 
staffed adequately 
b. Trainings and capacity 
building activities to be 
delivered to staff involved 
into Project implementation 

EAs and ADB a. prior to loan 
effectiveness 
b. throughout 
project 
implementation 

Human Resource 
and Staffing 
Unclear job 
descriptions or 
delineated roles of 
the project staff to 
affect 
accountability 

M EAs and IAs to establish 
clear organizational 
structure of the CPMUs 
and PIUs 

EAs and IAs prior to loan 
effectiveness 

Implementing 
Entity 
Inefficient 
coordination and 
information flow 
between the EAs, 
IAs and PIUs. 

M a. Establishment of CPMU 
at each EA to ensure 
regular coordination, 
communication and 
resolution of issues.  
b. Development of clear 
working arrangements and 
protocols. 

Project 
Steering 

Committee, 
EAs 

prior to loan 
effectiveness 

External Audit 
Limited time 
provided to 
auditors compared 
to the much longer 
period required to 
carry out an 
extensive audit of 
public works 

M EAs to ensure timely 
submission of project 
financial statements for 
audit 

EAs throughout 
project 
implementation 

Internal Audit 
 

L    

Information 
Systems 

L    

Overall Project 
Risk 

H    

Overall 
(Combined) Risk 

H    

* H = High; S = Substantive; M = Moderate; L = Low or Negligible. 
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H. Conclusion 
60. The assessment indicates that the Government’s prevailing financial, accounting, auditing 
rules, and systems meet generally accepted international accounting and auditing standards. The 
Government has adequate internal control systems and financial reporting arrangements.  

61. The executing agency MPWH has worked in the past with the ADB and is implementing 
well the on-going ADB-funded projects. The overall performance of the EA in implementing 
financial management of the on-going project is acceptable. The MPWH’s Directorates General 
of Water Resources, and Human Settlements have been in charge of implementing a number of 
World Bank- and ADB-funded projects. They have substantial and relevant experience in 
implementing externally financed subprojects and in managing ADB loan disbursements. 

62. The assessment of executing agency MOT indicates that generally MOT’s prevailing 
financial, accounting, auditing rules, and systems meet generally accepted international 
accounting and auditing standards. MOT has adequate internal control systems and financial 
reporting arrangements. Although MOT has no project loan with ADB in the past 20 years, the 
ministry has been implementing large number of project loans from other development partners 
such as the World Bank and JICA. They have relevant experience in implementing externally 
financed subprojects and in managing loan disbursements. 
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Appendix 1 

Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire  

Ministry of Public Works and Housing  
Directorate General of Human Settlement (DGHS)20

 

Topic Response Potential Risk 
Event 

1. Executing / Implementing Agency    
1.1  What is the entity’s legal status / registration?  Central Government 

Ministry 
Low 

1.2 How much equity (shareholding) is owned by 
the Government? 

Wholly owned by 
Government. 

Low 

1.3 Obtain the list of beneficial owners of major 
blocks of shares (non-governmental portion), if any. 21  

NA Low 

1.4  Has the entity implemented an externally 
financed project in the past? If yes, please provide 
details.  

Yes, many. 
WISMP Project, World 
Bank 1.3bn USD, 2011-
2015 
Jakarta Emergency 
Dredging Initiative (JDI), 
1.5bn USD, 2007-2017, 
World Bank 

Low 

1.5  Briefly describe the statutory reporting 
requirements for the entity. 

Quarterly and Monthly 
report 

Moderate 

1.6     Describe the regulatory or supervisory agency 
of the entity. 

Minister, MPWH, for 
Construction - Balai, for 
Supervision - Directorate 

Moderate 

1.7  What is the governing body for the project? Is 
the governing body for the project independent?  

Ministry of MPWH,  
Yes 

Moderate 

1.8  Obtain current organizational structure and 
describe key management personnel. Is the 
organizational structure and governance appropriate 
for the needs of the project?  

Enclosed as Appendix 4  

1.9   Does the entity have a Code of Ethics in 
place? 

Yes Moderate 

1.10   Describe (if any) any historical issues reports of 
ethics violations involving the entity and management. 
How were they addressed? 

None known Moderate 

 
2. Funds Flow Arrangements  

  

                                                           
20 The Assessment was undertaken with Directorate of Planning, Directorate General of Human Settlement 
21 In such cases, consult OAI on the need for integrity due diligence on non-governmental beneficial owners. 
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Topic Response Potential Risk 
Event 

2.1  Describe the (proposed) project funds flow 
arrangements in detail, including a funds flow diagram 
and explanation of the flow of funds from ADB, 
government and other financiers, to the government, 
EA, IA, suppliers, contractors, ultimate beneficiaries, 
etc. as applicable.  

1) Multi Donors --> 
Ministry of Finance --> 
Ministry of Public Work--
> Projects: 
(imprest account) 
1) Survey & 
Investigation 
2) Equipment 
3) Small civil contracts 
___________________ 
2) Multi Donors  ADB 
Contractors 1) 
Consulting Services; 2) 
Civil Works 

Moderate 

2.2  Are the (proposed) arrangements to transfer 
the proceeds of the loan (from the government / 
Finance Ministry) to the entity and to the end-
recipients satisfactory?  

Yes Moderate 

2.3     Are the disbursement methods appropriate? Yes Moderate 

2.4  What have been the major problems in the 
past involving the receipt, accounting and/or 
administration of funds by the entity?  
 

Disbursement and 
Replenishment have 
been late 
 

Moderate 

2.5  In which bank will the Imprest Account (if 
applicable) be established?  

Bank Indonesia Moderate 

2.6  Is the bank in which the imprest account is 
established capable of − 
A. Executing foreign and local currency 
transactions? 
B. Issuing and administering letters of credit 
(LC)? 
C. Handling a large volume of transaction? 
D. Issuing detailed monthly bank statements 
promptly? 
 

Yes Moderate 

2.7     Is the ceiling for disbursements from the imprest 
account and SOE appropriate/required? 

Yes Moderate 

2.8  Does the (proposed) project implementing unit 
(PIU) have experience in the management of 
disbursements from ADB?  

Yes Moderate 

2.9   Does the PIU have adequate administrative 
and accounting capacity to manage the imprest fund 
and statement of expenditure (SOE) procedures in 
accordance with ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook 
(LDH)? Identify any concern or uncertainty about the 
PIU’s administrative and accounting capability which 
would support the establishment of a ceiling on the 
use of the SOE procedure. 

Yes Moderate 

2.10  Is the entity exposed to foreign exchange risk? 
If yes, describe the entity’s policy and arrangements 
for managing foreign exchange risk. 

Yes, but training is still 
needed for budgeting 
planning, monitoring 

Moderate 
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Topic Response Potential Risk 
Event 

evaluation and financial 
reporting 

2.11 How are the counterpart funds accessed?  
 

Counterpart  
funds are accessed 
using SPM (Payment 
Order) and SP2D (Fund 
Disbursement Order) 
issued by the 
responsible government 
agency (KPKN-
dedicated bank account) 

Moderate 

2.12 How are payments made from the counterpart 
funds?  
 

Transferred from Project 
Treasury account or 
directly to the account of 
third parties. These are 
accordance to 
Indonesian Regulations 

Moderate 

2.13 If project funds will flow to communities or 
NGOs, does the PIU have the necessary reporting 
and monitoring arrangements and features built into 
its systems to track the use of project proceeds by 
such entities?  
 

Yes, there is a 
mechanism of 
verification at the time of 
request for payment and 
post-payment audit. 

Moderate 

2.14 Are the beneficiaries required to contribute to 
project costs? If beneficiaries have an option to 
contribute in kind (in the form of labor or material), are 
proper guidelines and arrangements formulated to 
record and value the labor or material contributions at 
appraisal and during implementation?  
 

Yes, project dependent Moderate 

 
3. Staffing  

  

3.1  What is the current and/or proposed 
organizational structure of the accounting 
department? Attach an organization chart.  
 

At the Satker level there 
are 2 officers -  1 for 
treasury and 1 for 
verification functions 
(their level is at par with 
the PPK) 

Moderate 

3.2 Will existing staff be assigned to the project, or 
will new staff be recruited? 

Yes, existing staff will be 
assigned, but if the 
project needs more, they 
will be recruited 

Moderate 

3.3  Describe the existing or proposed project 
accounting staff, including job title, responsibilities, 
educational background and professional experience. 
Attach job descriptions and CVs of key existing 
accounting staff.  

At the Satker level,  
Treasury will have at 
least 2 staff and 
Verification will have at 
least 2 people for every 
project 

Moderate 

3.4  Is the project finance and accounting function 
staffed adequately?  

Yes Moderate 

3.5  Are the project finance and accounting staff 
adequately qualified and experienced?  

Yes Moderate 
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3.6  Are the project finance and accounting staff 
trained in ADB procedures, including the 
disbursement guidelines (i.e., LDH)?  

Yes, Informally trained, 
Training to be provided 
as required 

Moderate 

3.7  What is the duration of the contract with the 
project finance and accounting staff?  

Finance staff (PNS) 
pension at the age of 58 
years, while financial 
consultants are usually 
hired per year (for the 
Budget) and multi-year 
(for Loan), according to 
the project period 

Moderate 

3.8  Identify any key positions of project finance 
and accounting staff not contracted or filled yet, and 
the estimated date of appointment. 

None currently, but will 
be filled, as required. 

Moderate 

3.9     For new staff, describe the proposed project 
finance and accounting staff, including job title, 
responsibilities, educational background and 
professional experience. Attach job descriptions. 
 

None Moderate 

3.10  Does the project have written position 
descriptions that clearly define duties, responsibilities, 
lines of supervision, and limits of authority for all of the 
officers, managers, and staff?  

Yes Moderate 

3.11  What is the turnover rate for finance and 
accounting personnel (including terminations, 
resignations, transfers, etc.)?  

No specific time 
frequency for transfers 
(according to program 
needs) 

Moderate 

3.12  What is training policy for the finance and 
accounting staff?  

Training of  treasury  
accounting, budgeting, 
procurement etc.  

Moderate 

3.13 Describe the list of training programs attended 
by finance and accounting staff in the last 3 years. 
 

Treasury, monitoring 
and procurement 
training 

Moderate 

 
4. Accounting Policies and Procedures  

  

4.1  Does the entity have an accounting system 
that allows for the proper recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of expenditures 
in accordance with the respective components, 
disbursement categories, and sources of funds (in 
particular, the legal agreements with ADB)? Will the 
project use the entity accounting system? If not, what 
accounting system will be used for the project? 

Yes, GOI has 
computerized financial 
system for the project  
Use SAI application, 
SAKPA application, 
SIMAK BMN application 
(for the Government 
asset) 

Low 

4.2  Are controls in place concerning the 
preparation and approval of transactions, ensuring 
that all transactions are correctly made and 
adequately explained?  

Yes Low 

4.3  Is the chart of accounts adequate to properly 
account for and report on project activities and 
disbursement categories? Obtain a copy of the chart 
of accounts. 

Yes Low 
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4.4  Are cost allocations to the various funding 
sources made accurately and in accordance with 
established agreements?  

Yes Moderate 

4.5  Are the General Ledger and subsidiary ledgers 
reconciled monthly? Are actions taken to resolve 
reconciliation differences? 

Yes Low 

4.6     Describe the EA’s policy for retention of 
accounting records including supporting documents 
(e.g., ADB’s policy requires that all documents should 
be retained for at least 1 year after ADB receives the 
audited project financial statements for the final 
accounting period of implementation, or 2 years after 
the loan closing date, whichever is later). Are all 
accounting and supporting documents retained in a 
defined system that allows authorized users easy 
access?  

Yes, Documents 
(hardcopy) stored for 5 
years while softcopy 
usually only 1 year. 

Low 

4.7     Describe any previous audit findings that have 
not been addressed. 

None known, but usually 
issues come from PPK 

Low 

Segregation of Duties    
4.8  Are the following functional responsibilities 
performed by different units or persons: (i) 
authorization to execute a transaction; (ii) recording of 
the transaction; (iii) custody of assets involved in the 
transaction; (iv) reconciliation of bank accounts and 
subsidiary ledgers?  
 

Yes, done by some 
people as field work. 

Moderate 

4.9  Are the functions of ordering, receiving, 
accounting for, and paying for goods and services 
appropriately segregated?  
 

Yes, there are financial 
budget items (MAK) 
 

Moderate 

Budgeting System    
4.10  Do budgets include physical and financial 
targets?  

Yes. there is TFK 
(physical and financial 
targets) and RFK 
(physical and financial 
realization) 

Moderate 

4.11  Are budgets prepared for all significant 
activities in sufficient detail to allow meaningful 
monitoring of subsequent performance?  
 

Yes, there are detailed 
budgets for each 
activities, called RAB 
(Rincian Anggaran 
Biaya) 

Moderate 

4.12  Are actual expenditures compared to the 
budget with reasonable frequency? Are explanations 
required for significant variations against the budget?  

Yes Moderate 

4.13  Are approvals for variations from the budget 
required (i) in advance, or (ii) after the fact? 
  

Usually in advance Moderate 

4.14 Is there a ceiling, up to which variations from 
the budget may be incurred without obtaining prior 
approval? 
 

Variation upto 10% of 
the contract value is 
approved by the PPK, 
while for variations 

Moderate 



27 
 

 

Topic Response Potential Risk 
Event 

beyond this approval is 
not given in the 
Indonesian law 
 
For loan project, every 
contract variation is 
reported to the lender 

4.15 Who is responsible for preparation, approval 
and oversight/monitoring of budgets?  
 

Budgeting PIU, 
consolidated by the 
PMO and DJA (DG 
Budget) 

Moderate 

4.16 Describe the budget process. Are procedures 
in place to plan project activities, collect information 
from the units in charge of the different components, 
and prepare the budgets?  

Yes, planning and 
budget preparation 
activities prepared by 
each PIU through 
appropriate role-sharing 

Moderate 

4.17  Are the project plans and budgets of project 
activities realistic, based on valid assumptions, and 
developed by knowledgeable individuals?  
  
          Is there evidence of significant mid-year 
revisions, inadequate fund releases against 
allocations, or inability of the EA to absorb/spend 
released funds? 
 
 Is there evidence that government counterpart 
funding is not made available adequately or on a 
timely basis in prior projects? 
 
 What is the extent of over- or under-budgeting 
of major heads over the last 3 years? Is there a 
consistent trend either way? 
 

Yes, there are a number 
of meetings within small 
teams for development 
of the project plan and 
budget 

Moderate 

Payments    
4.18 Do invoice-processing procedures require: (i) 
Copies of purchase orders and receiving reports to be 
obtained directly from issuing departments? (ii) 
Comparison of invoice quantities, prices and terms, 
with those indicated on the purchase order and with 
records of goods actually received? (iii) Comparison of 
invoice quantities with those indicated on the receiving 
reports? (iv) Checking the accuracy of calculations? 
(v) Checking authenticity of invoices and supporting 
documents?  
 

(i) Yes; 
(ii) No; 
(iii) Yes; 
(iv) Yes 

Moderate 

4.19  Are all invoices stamped PAID, dated, 
reviewed and approved, recorded/entered into the 
system correctly, and clearly marked for account code 
assignment?  
 

Yes 
Stamped "PAID" with the 
date listed, but not all 
the information is 
"reviewed" and 
"approved" 

Moderate 
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4.20 Do controls exist for the preparation of the 
payroll? Are changes 
(additions/deductions/modifications) to the payroll 
properly authorized?  
 

Yes Moderate 

Policies And Procedures    
4.21  What is the basis of accounting (e.g., cash, 
accrual) followed (i) by the entity? (ii) By the project? 

Cash Book and Book of 
Financial Statements 
(Accrual) 

Moderate 

4.22  What accounting standards are followed 
(International Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards – 
cash or accrual, or National Accounting Standards 
(specify) or other?  

Government Accounting 
Standard 
 

Moderate 

4.23  Does the project have adequate policies and 
procedures manual(s) to guide activities and ensure 
staff accountability?  

Yes, the project follows 
the Ministry of Finance 
guidelines 
 

Moderate 

4.24 Is the accounting policy and procedure manual 
updated regularly and for the project activities?  

Yes Moderate 

4.25 Do procedures exist to ensure that only 
authorized persons can alter or establish a new 
accounting policy or procedure to be used by the 
entity?  

Yes Moderate 

4.26  Are there written policies and procedures 
covering all routine financial management and related 
administrative activities?  

Yes Moderate 

4.27 Do policies and procedures clearly define 
conflict of interest and related party transactions (real 
and apparent) and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization from them?  

Covered by Indonesian 
law 

Moderate 

4.28  Are manuals distributed to appropriate 
personnel?  

Yes Moderate 

4.29   Describe how compliance with policies and 
procedures are verified and monitored. 

Once a year by internal 
and external auditor 
(PPK) or standalone 
organization 

Moderate 

Cash and Bank    
4.30  Indicate names and positions of authorized 
signatories for bank accounts. Include those persons 
who have custody over bank passwords, USB keys, or 
equivalent for online transactions. 

Kuasa Pengguna 
Anggaran (Project 
Manager) and Treasury 
Manager 
 

Moderate 

4.31 Does the organization maintain an adequate 
and up-to-date cashbook recording receipts and 
payments?  

Yes Moderate 

4.32  Describe the collection process and cash 
handling procedures. Do controls exist for the 
collection, timely deposit and recording of receipts at 
each collection location?  

Yes Moderate 
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4.33  Are bank accounts reconciled on a monthly 
basis? Or more often? 
 Is cash 
on hand physically verified, and reconciled with the 
cash books? With what frequency is this done? 

Yes Moderate 

4.34   Are all reconciling items approved and 
recorded? 

Yes Moderate 

4.35 Are all unusual items on the bank reconciliation 
reviewed and approved by a responsible official?  

Yes Moderate 

4.36   Are there any persistent/non-moving reconciling 
items? 

None, known Moderate 

4.37  Are there appropriate controls in safekeeping of 
unused cheques, USB keys and passwords, official 
receipts and invoices? 

Yes Moderate 

4.38  Are any large cash balances maintained at the 
head office or field offices? If so, for what purpose? 

No, only for daily 
requirements 

Moderate 

4.39 For online transactions, how many persons 
possess USB keys (or equivalent), and passwords?  
Describe the security rules on password and access 
controls. 

1 or 2 only. Personnel 
have to be registered by 
the Ministry of Finance 

Moderate 

Safeguard over Assets    
4.40  What policies and procedures are in place to 
adequately safeguard or protect assets from fraud, 
waste and abuse?  

Yes, use of SIMAK BMN 
Application , Monitoring 
of assets and Audit of 
assets 
 

Moderate 

4.41 Does the entity maintain a Fixed Assets 
Register? Is the register updated monthly?  Does the 
register record ownership of assets, any assets under 
lien or encumbered, or have been pledged? 

Yes Moderate 

4.42  Are subsidiary records of fixed assets, 
inventories and stocks kept up to date and reconciled 
with control accounts?  

Yes Moderate 

4.43 Are there periodic physical inventories of fixed 
assets, inventories and stocks? Are fixed assets, 
inventories and stocks appropriately labeled? 

Quarterly and Annually 
 

Moderate 

4.44 Are the physical inventory of fixed assets and 
stocks reconciled with the respective fixed assets and 
stock registers, and discrepancies analyzed and 
resolved? 

Yes Low 

4.45 Describe the policies and procedures in 
disposal of assets. Is the disposal of each asset 
appropriately approved and recorded? Are steps 
immediately taken to locate lost, or repair broken 
assets? 

Ministry of Finance has 
to approve disposal of 
assets (for more than 
300,000 IDR) 

Low 

4.46  Are assets sufficiently covered by insurance 
policies?  
 

Not all Moderate 

4.47   Describe the policies and procedures in 
identifying and maintaining fully depreciated assets 
from active assets. 
 

They are separated from 
active use and there is 
an independent process 

Moderate 
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for disposal through a 
separate report 

Other Offices and Implementing Entities    
4.48  Describe any other regional offices or 
executing entities participating in implementation.  

Dinas (Office) PU Moderate 

4.49 Describe the staff, their roles and 
responsibilities in performing accounting and financial 
management functions of such offices as they relate 
to the project. 

The Dinas PU have staff 
who look into the finance 
function 

Moderate 

4.50  Has the project established segregation of 
duties, controls and procedures for flow of funds and 
financial information, accountability, and reporting and 
audits in relation to the other offices or entities?  

Yes. agencies at the 
local level audited by the 
local government and 
Bupati/Walikota, who will 
deliver Accountability 
Report to the Central 
Government. Control 
exercised by Central 
Government and Local 
Government 

Moderate 

4.51  Does information among the different offices/ 
implementing agencies flow in an accurate and timely 
fashion? In particular, do the offices other than the 
head office use the same accounting and reporting 
system?  

Not always Moderate 

4.52  Are periodic reconciliations performed among 
the different offices/implementing agencies?  Describe 
the project reporting and auditing arrangements 
between these offices and the main 
executing/implementing agencies. 

Yes, Consolidate report 
by PPMU and KPMU 
 

Moderate 

4.53   If any sub-accounts (under the Imprest 
Account) will be maintained, describe the results of 
the assessment of the financial management capacity 
of the administrator of such sub-accounts.  

No sub-account in the 
Ministry 

Moderate 

Contract Management and Accounting   
4.54 Does the agency maintain contract-wise 
accounting records to indicate gross value of contract, 
and any amendments, variations and escalations, 
payments made, and undisbursed balances?  Are the 
records consistent with physical outputs/deliverables 
of the contract? 

Yes Moderate 

4.55 If contract records are maintained, does the 
agency reconcile them regularly with the contractor?  

Yes Moderate 

Other    
4.56  Describe project arrangements for reporting 
fraud, corruption, waste and misuse of project 
resources.  Has the project advised employees, 
beneficiaries and other recipients to whom to report if 
they suspect fraud, waste or misuse of project 
resources or property?  

Follow Indonesian law Moderate 

5. Internal Audit    
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5.1  Is there an internal audit (IA) department in the 
entity?  

Yes, by General 
Inspectorate of Public 
Works 
 

Moderate 

5.2  What are the qualifications and experience of 
the IA staff?  

Audit Certification by the 
Government thru regular 
training 

Moderate 

5.3  To whom does the head of the internal audit 
report?  

Inspector General to 
submit a report to the 
Director General 
 

Moderate 

5.4  Will the internal audit department include the 
project in its annual work program?  

No. Internal audits are 
conducted regularly 
(yearly or half) and 
dependent on the 
request from the relevant 
authority. 

Moderate 

5.5  Are actions taken on the internal audit 
findings?  

Yes, they are taken, 
including administrative 
sanctions. 
 

Moderate 

5.6  What is the scope of the internal audit 
program? How was it developed? 

Scope is determined for 
technical, financial and 
physical aspects. PPK 
and Satker project 
manager develop the 
scope 

Moderate 

5.7  Is the IA department independent?   Yes, under MPWH Moderate 
5.8 Do they perform pre-audit of transactions? No Moderate 
5.9  Who approves the internal audit program? Inspector General of 

Internal Audit 
Moderate 

5.10  What standards guide the internal audit 
program?  

As per Indonesian law Moderate 

5.11  How are audit deficiencies tracked? Through transaction 
verifications in detail 

Moderate 

5.12 How long have the internal audit staff members 
been with the organization? 

More than 5 years on an 
average 

Moderate 

5.13  Does any of the internal audit staff have an IT 
background? 

Yes Moderate 

5.14 How frequently does the internal auditor meet 
with the audit committee without the presence of 
management? 

Not known Moderate 

5.15 Has the internal auditor identified / reported 
any issue with reference to availability and 
completeness of records? 

None, known Moderate 

5.16 Does the internal auditor have sufficient 
knowledge and understanding of ADB’s guidelines 
and procedures, including the disbursement 
guidelines and procedures (i.e., LDH)? 

Yes Moderate 

6. External Audit – entity level   
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6.1  Is the entity financial statement audited 
regularly by an independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor?  
 

Yes, Regularly by 
Independent auditor, 
BPK and BPKP 

 

Moderate 

6.2  Are there any delays in audit of the entity? 
When are the audit reports issued?  
 

No. Audit reports are 
usually issued 1 month 
after audit 

Moderate 

6.3  Is the audit of the entity conducted in 
accordance with the International Standards on 
Auditing, or the International Standards for Supreme 
Audit Institutions, or national auditing standards?  
 

Yes, Indonesia 
Standards on Auditing 

Moderate 

6.4  Were there any major accountability issues 
noted in the audit report for the past three years?   

No Moderate 

6.5  Does the external auditor meet with the audit 
committee without the presence of management?  

Not known Moderate 

6.6  Has the entity engaged the external audit firm 
for any non-audit engagements (e.g., consulting)? If 
yes, what is the total value of non-audit engagements, 
relative to the value of audit services? 

No Moderate 

6.7   Has the external auditor expressed any issues 
on the availability of complete records and supporting 
documents? 

No Moderate 

6.8 Does the external auditor have sufficient 
knowledge and understanding of ADB’s guidelines 
and procedures, including the disbursement 
guidelines and procedures (i.e., LDH)? 

Yes Moderate 

6.9     Are there any material issues noted during the 
review of the audited entity financial statements that 
were not reported in the external  audit report? 

Not known Moderate 

External Audit – project level   
6.10 Will the entity auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be appointed to audit 
the project financial statements? 

Separate team is 
appointed at project 
level  

Moderate 

6.11  Are there any recommendations made by the 
auditors in prior project audit reports or management 
letters that have not yet been implemented? 

Not known Moderate 

6.12  Is the project subject to any kind of audit from 
an independent governmental entity (e.g. the supreme 
audit institution) in addition to the external audit? 

PPK Moderate 

6.13   Has the project prepared acceptable terms of 
reference for an annual project audit? Have these 
been agreed and discussed with the EA and the 
auditor? 

Yes Moderate 

6.14   Has the project auditor identified any issues 
with the availability and completeness of records and 
supporting documents? 

No Moderate 
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6.15   Does the external auditor have sufficient 
knowledge and understanding of ADB’s guidelines 
and procedures, including the disbursement 
guidelines and procedures (i.e., LDH)? 

Yes Moderate 

6.16  Are there any recommendations made by the 
auditors in prior audit reports or management letters 
that have not yet been implemented?  

Not Known Moderate 

 [For second or subsequent projects] 
6.17   Were past audit reports complete, and did they 
fully address the obligations under the loan 
agreements? Were there any material issues noted 
during the review of the audited project financial 
statements and related audit report that have 
remained unaddressed? 

Yes Moderate 

7. Reporting and Monitoring    
7.1  Are financial statements and reports prepared 
for the entity?  

SAI, SAKPA, SIMAK 
BMN. Ya sesuai dengan 
standar 

Moderate 

7.2  Are financial statements and reports prepared 
for the implementing unit(s)?  

Project report  
FMR dan FISSA 

Moderate 

7.3  What is the frequency of preparation of 
financial statements and reports? Are the reports 
prepared in a timely fashion so as to be useful to 
management for decision making?  

Monthly, quarterly, and 
annually. 
Yes Useful 

 

Moderate 

7.4  Does the entity reporting system need to be 
adapted for project reporting?  

No Moderate 

7.5  Has the project established financial 
management reporting responsibilities that specify the 
types of reports to be prepared, the report content, 
and purpose of the reports?  

Yes Moderate 

7.6 Are financial management reports used by 
management?  

Yes Moderate 

7.7 Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted and programmed 
allocations?  

Yes Moderate 

7.8 How are financial reports prepared? Are 
financial reports prepared directly by the automated 
accounting system or are they prepared by 
spreadsheets or some other means?  

Partly done by 
spreadsheets 
 

Moderate 

7.9  Does the financial system have the capacity to 
link the financial information with the project's physical 
progress? If separate systems are used to gather and 
compile physical data, what controls are in place to 
reduce the risk that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes, The reporting 
system is integrated 
between the physical 
and financial realization 
of the project. Physical 
data is usually higher 
because of constraints 
of financial data due to 
disbursement issues 
 

Moderate 
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7.10 Does the entity have experience in 
implementing projects of any other donors, co-
financiers, or development partners? 

Yes Moderate 

8. Information Systems    

8.1  Is the financial accounting and reporting 
system computerized?  

Yes Moderate 

8.2 If computerized, is the software off-the-shelf, or 
customized?  

Customized by the 
Ministry of Finance 

Moderate 

8.3 Is the computerized software standalone, or 
integrated and used by all departments in the 
headquarters and field units using modules?  

Integrated and used by 
all Directorates General 

Moderate 

8.4 How are the project financial data integrated 
with the entity financial data? Is it done through a 
module in the enterprise financial system with 
automatic data transfer, or does it entail manual 
entry? 

Automatic Moderate 

8.5 Is the computerized software used for directly 
generating periodic financial statements, or does it 
require manual intervention and use of Excel or similar 
spreadsheet software? 

Direct generation of 
reports 

Moderate 

8.6  Can the system automatically produce the 
necessary project financial reports?  

Yes Moderate 

8.7  Is the staff adequately trained to maintain the 
computerized system?  

Yes Moderate 

8.8  Do the management, organization and 
processes and systems safeguard the confidentiality, 
integrity and availability of the data?  

Yes Moderate 

8.9    Are there back-up procedures in place? Yes Moderate 

8.10 Describe the backup procedures – online 
storage, offsite storage, offshore storage, fire, 
earthquake and calamity protection for backups. 

Online and offsite. Moderate 
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Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire 

Ministry of Public Works and Housing  
Directorate General of Water Resources (DGWR) 

Topic DGWR Potential Risk Event 
1. Executing- and Implementing 

Agencies (EA and IAs) 
DGWR  

1.1 What is the entity’s legal status / 
registration? 

Government body part of Ministry of Public 
Works and Housing 

- 

1.2 Has the entity implemented an 
externally-financed project in the past (if 
so, please provide details)?  

Yes 
ICWRMIP PFR1 ADB $50.0M 2009-20016 

PISP ADB $90.5M 2005-2011 

WISMP-1 World Bank $84M 2005-2010 

NTB-WRMP World Bank $8.6M 2005-2011 
 
IP-510 JICA Yen 1,790*109 2004-12 
DOISP WB   IDR 30M * 109 2011-14 
JUFMP WB  IDR 35M * 109 2009-12 

- 

1.3 What are the statutory reporting 
requirements for the entity? 

Program Report and Managerial Report. 
FMR, FISSA 
SAI, SIMAK, SAKPA 

 

1.4 Is the governing body for the project 
independent? 

Yes  Not 100% independent; the 
governing body assigned by 
the entity  

1.5 Is the organizational structure 
appropriate for the needs of the 
project?  

Yes - 

2.    Funds Flow Arrangements  
2.1 Describe (proposed) project funds flow 

arrangements, including a chart and 
explanation of the flow of funds from 
ADB, government and other financiers. 

1) Multi Donors --> Ministry of Finance --> 
Ministry of Public Work--> Projects: 

(imprest account) 
1) Survey & Investigation 
2) Equipment 
3) Small civil contracts 

No risk for the fund flow 
mechanism. Government 
have good enough 
regulation and control 
system on the fund flow 

 2) Multi Donors  ADB Contractors 1) 
Consulting Services; 2) Civil Works 

 

2.2 Are the (proposed) arrangements to 
transfer the proceeds of the loan (from 
the government / Finance Ministry) to 
the entity satisfactory? 

Yes No significant risk 

2.3 What have been the major problems in 
the past in receipt of funds by the 
entity? 

Disbursement and Replenishment too late 
to realization  
 

Some risk in government 
balance cash  

2.4 In which bank will the Impprest Account 
be opened? 

Bank Indonesia No significant risk 

2.5 Does the (proposed) project 
implementing unit (PIU) have 
experience in the management of 
disbursements from ADB? 

Yes The project officer, 
possibility new officer that 
not 100% familiar with ADB 
system 
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2.7  Does the entity have/need a capacity to 

manage foreign exchange risks? 
Yes, still needed, for budget plan, 
monitoring, evaluation and financial 
reporting 

- 

2.8  How are the counterpart funds 
accessed? 

Counterpart  
Fund share accessed using SPM (Payment 
Order) and SP2D (Fund Disbursement 
Order) issued by the responsible 
government agency (KPKN-dedicated bank 
account) 

No significant risk  

2.9  How are payments made from the 
counterpart funds? 

Transferred from Project Treasury account 
or directly to the account of third parties in 
accordance with Indonesian regulation 

No significant risk 

2.10 If part of the project is implemented 
by communities or NGOs, does the 
PIU have the necessary reporting 
and monitoring features built into its 
systems to track the use of project 
proceeds by such agencies? 

Yes, there is a mechanism fo verification at 
the time of request for payment and post-
payment audit. 

Main risk is in NGO selection 
system 

2.11  Are the beneficiaries required to 
contribute to project costs? If 
beneficiaries have an option to 
contribute in kind (in the form of 
labour), are proper guidelines 
formulated to record and value the 
labor contribution? 

Yes, required. The formula, for example: the 
contribution of community  maximum of 20% 
of the project cost to convert the wage per 
person-day. If the value of wages has 
exceeded 20%, then the community gets 
tired of money 

No significant risk 

3.  Staffing   
3.1  What is the (proposed) organizational 

structure of the accounting 
department? Attach an organization 
chart. 

This  agency (DGWR) has its own Finance 
Department, with1person echelon III, 2 IV 
echelon; 3 PNS  staff and 2 non-PNSstaff 

No significant 

3.2  Identify the (proposed) accounts staff, 
including job title, responsibilities, 
educational background and 
professional experience. Attach job 
descriptions and CVs of key accounting 
staff. 

Yes, there is  key staff accounting (financial) 
there is a National employee (PNS) in the 
position: 
•Treasurer, and 
• SPM Officials makers; 
The have financial background, experiences 
and skill 

The moderate risk on staff 
selection not guarantee the 
independently the staff 

3.3  Is the project finance and accounting 
function staffed adequate? 

Yes The moderate risk on staff 
selection not guarantee the 
independently the staff 

3.4  Is the finance and accounts staff 
adequately qualified and experienced? 

Yes The moderate risk on staff 
selection not guarantee the 
independently the staff 

3.5  Is the project accounts and finance staff 
trained in ADB procedures? 

Yes 
Informal training 

The training is limited to staff 
who will handle the LOAN. 

3.6  What is the duration of the contract with 
the finance and accounts staff? 

Finance staff(PNS) pension at the age of 55 
years 

No significant risk 

3.7  Indicate key positions not contracted 
yet, and the estimated date of 
appointment. 

Financial consultants are usually hired per 
year (for the Budget) and multi-year (for 
Loan) according to the project period 

No significant Risk 
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3.8  Does the project have written 

position/job descriptions that clearly 
define duties, responsibilities, lines of 
supervision, and limits of authority for 
all of the officers, managers, and staff? 

Yes No significant Risk 

3.9  At what frequency are personnel 
transferred? 

No specific time frequency (accord with 
program needs) 

No significant Risk 

3.10  What is training policy for the finance 
and accounting staff? 

Training of  treasury accounting, budgeting, 
procurement etc. 
 

Moderate Risk, the ADB 
finance policy not regularly 
trained. Only trained to the 
Project staff 

4.  Accounting Policies and Procedures  
4.1  Does the entity have an accounting 

system that allows for the proper 
recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation of 
expenditures in accordance with the 
respective components, disbursement 
categories, and sources of funds? Will 
the project use the entity accounting 
system? 

Yes, GOI has computerized financial system 
for the project 
Use SAI application, SAKPA application, 
SIMAK BMN application (for the 
Government asset) 

No significant Risk 

4.2  Are controls in place concerning the 
preparation and approval of 
transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and 
adequately explained? 

Yes No significant Risk 

4.3  Is the chart of accounts adequate to 
properly account for and report on 
project activities and disbursement 
categories? 

Yes No significant Risk 

4.4  Are cost allocations to the various 
funding sources made accurately and in 
accordance with established 
agreements? 

Yes No significant Risk 

4.5  Are the General Ledger and subsidiary 
ledgers reconciled and in balance? 

Yes No significant Risk 

4.6  Are all accounting and supporting 
documents retained on a permanent 
basis in a defined system that allows 
authorized users easy access?  

Yes, Documents(hardcopy) storedfor 
5yearswhilesoftcopyusuallyonly1year. 

No significant Risk 

Segregation of Duties   
4.7  Are the following functional 

responsibilities performed by different 
units or persons: (i) authorization to 
execute a transaction; (ii) recording of 
the transaction; and (iii) custody of 
assets involved in the transaction? 

Yes, the following functional responsibilities 
performed by different units or persons. 

No significant risk 

4.8  Are the functions of ordering, receiving, 
accounting for, and paying for goods 
and services appropriately segregated? 

Yes, there are financial budget item (MAK) 
segregated 
 

No significant risk 
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4.9  Are bank reconciliations prepared by 

someone other than those who make or 
approve payments? 

No, reconciliation is made by people who 
agree to payment 

No significant risk 

Budgeting System   
4.10  Do budgets include physical and 

financial targets?  
Yes. There TFK (physical and financial 
targets) and RFK(physical and financial 
realization) 

The regulation on budget 
revision is to complicated 
also for LOAN.  Many project 
delayed by the regulation 

4.11  Are budgets prepared for all 
significant activities in sufficient detail 
to provide a meaningful tool with 
which to monitor subsequent 
performance? 

Yes, there detail budgets for each activities, 
we called RAB (Rincian Anggaran Biaya) 

No significant risk 

4.12  Are actual expenditures compared to 
the budget with reasonable 
frequency, and explanations required 
for significant variations from the 
budget? 

Yes,  No significant risk 

4.13  Are approvals for variations from the 
budget required in advance or after 
the fact? 

Usually in advance 
 

No significant risk 

4.14  Who is responsible for preparation 
and approval of budgets? 

Budgeting PIU, consolidated by the PMU 
and DJA (DG Budget) approved budget 
 

No significant risk 

4.15  Are procedures in place to plan 
project activities, collect information 
from the units in charge of the 
different components, and prepare 
the budgets? 

Yes 
Yes, planning and budget preparation 
activities prepared by each PIU appropriate 
role-sharing 
. 

No significant risk 

4.16  Are the project plans and budgets of 
project activities realistic, based on 
valid assumptions, and developed by 
knowledgeable individuals? 

Yes, there area number of meetings with a 
small team to develop a project plan and 
budget. 
 

No significant risk 

Payments   
4.17  Do invoice-processing procedures 

provide for: (i) Copies of purchase 
orders and receiving reports to be 
obtained directly from issuing 
departments? (ii) Comparison of 
invoice quantities, prices and terms, 
with those indicated on the purchase 
order and with records of goods 
actually received? (iii) Comparison of 
invoice quantities with those indicated 
on the receiving reports? (iv) 
Checking the accuracy of 
calculations? 

(i) Yes; 
(ii) No; 
(iii) Yes; 
(iv) Yes 

No significant risk 
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4.18  Are all invoices stamped PAID, dated, 

reviewed and approved, and clearly 
marked for account code 
assignment?  

Yes 
Stamped"PAID" andlisted the date, butnotall 
there isinformation"reviewed" 
and"approved" 
 

No significant risk 

4.19  Do controls exist for the preparation of 
the payroll and are changes to the 
payroll properly authorized? 

Yes,  
 

No significant risk 

Policies And Procedures   
4.20  What is the basis of accounting (e.g., 

cash, accrual)? 
Yes, Cash Book and Book of Financial 
Statements (Accrual) 
 

No significant risk 

4.21  What accounting standards are 
followed? 

Government Accounting Standard 
 

No significant risk 

4.22  Does the project have an adequate 
policies and procedures manual to 
guide activities and ensure staff 
accountability? 

YES; the project follows guidelines of the 
Ministry of Finance 
 

No significant risk 

4.23  Is the accounting policy and 
procedure manual updated for the 
project activities? 

Yes  
 

No significant risk 

4.24  Do procedures exist to ensure that 
only authorized persons can alter or 
establish a new accounting principle, 
policy or procedure to be used by the 
entity? 

Yes No significant risk 

4.25  Are there written policies and 
procedures covering all routine 
financial management and related 
administrative activities? 

Yes No significant risk 

4.26  Do policies and procedures clearly 
define conflict of interest and related 
party transactions (real and apparent) 
and provide safeguards to protect the 
organization from them? 

Covered by Indonesian laws No significant risk 

4.27  Are manuals distributed to 
appropriate personnel? 

Yes No significant risk 

Cash and Bank   
4.28  Indicate names and positions of 

authorized signatories in the bank 
accounts. 

KuasaPenggunaAnggaran (Project 
Manager) and Treasury Manager 
 

No significant risk 

4.29  Does the organization maintain an 
adequate, up-to-date cashbook, 
recording receipts and payments? 

Yes No significant risk 

4.30  Do controls exist for the collection, 
timely deposit and recording of 
receipts at each collection location? 

Yes No significant risk 

4.31  Are bank and cash reconciled on a 
monthly basis? 

Yes No significant risk 
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4.32  Are all unusual items on the bank 

reconciliation reviewed and approved 
by a responsible official? 

Yes No significant risk 

4.33  Are all receipts deposited on a timely 
basis? 

Yes No significant risk 

Safeguard over Assets   
4.34 Is there a system of adequate 

safeguards to protect assets from 
fraud, waste and abuse? 

Yes, use SIMAK BMN Application , 
Monitoring asset and Audit asset 
 

No significant risk 

4.35  Are subsidiary records of fixed assets 
and stocks kept up to date and 
reconciled with control accounts? 

Yes No significant risk 

4.36  Are there periodic physical inventories 
of fixed assets and stocks? 

Quarterly and Annually 
 

No significant risk 

4.37  Are assets sufficiently covered by 
insurance policies? 

No 
 

No significant risk 

Other Offices and Implementing Entities  
4.38  Are there any other regional offices or 

executing entities participating in 
implementation? 

Yes 
 

No significant risk 

4.39  Has the project established controls 
and procedures for flow of funds, 
financial information, accountability, 
and audits in relation to the other 
offices or entities?  

Yes.Local  agencies level audited by the 
local government and Bupati/Walikota will 
deliver Accountability Report to theCentral 
Government. Control exercised by Central 
Government and Local Government 

No significant risk 

4.40  Does information among the different 
offices/implementing agencies flow in 
an accurate and timely fashion? 

Not all 
 

No significant risk 

4.41  Are periodic reconciliations performed 
among the different 
offices/implementing agencies? 

Yes, Consolidate report by PPMU and 
KPMU 
 

No significant risk 

Other   
4.42  Has the project advised employees, 

beneficiaries and other recipients to 
whom to report if they suspect fraud, 
waste or misuse of project resources 
or property? 

Follow Indonesian law No significant risk 

5.    Internal Audit   
5.1  Is there an internal audit department in 

the entity? 
Yes, by General Inspectorate of Public Work No significant risk 

5.2  What are the qualifications and 
experience of audit department staff?  

Has audited to projects and internal 
activities funding by Loan,grant and APBN 

No significant risk 

5.3  To whom does the internal auditor 
report? 

Inspector General to submit a report to the 
Director General of WR 
 

No significant risk 

5.4  Will the internal audit department 
include the project in its work program? 

No.Internal audits are conducted regularly 
(yearly or half. 
 

No significant risk 
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5.5  Are actions taken on the internal audit 

findings? 
Yes, there is, including administrative 
sanctions and material. 

No significant risk 

6.    External Audit   
6.1  Is the entity financial statement audited 

regularly by an independent auditor? 
Who is the auditor? 

yes,,Regularandincidental. 
Independentauditorby BPKand BPKP 
 

No significant risk 

6.2  Are there any delays in audit of the 
entity? When are the audit reports 
issued? 

Nothing.The audit report1was issued 1 
monthafter audit 

No significant risk 

6.3  Is the audit of the entity conducted 
according to the International 
Standards on Auditing? 

Yes, Indonesia Standards on Auditing  No significant risk 

6.4  Were there any major accountability 
issues brought out in the audit report of 
the past three years? 

No 
 

No significant risk 

6.5  Will the entity auditor audit the project 
accounts or will another auditor be 
appointed to audit the project financial 
statements? 

Byinternalandexternalauditor 
 

No significant risk 

6.6  Are there any recommendations made 
by the auditors in prior audit reports or 
management letters that have not yet 
been implemented? 

No 
 

No significant risk 

6.7  Is the project subject to any kind of audit 
from an independent governmental 
entity (e.g., the supreme audit 
institution) in addition to the external 
audit? 

No 
 

No significant risk 

6.8  Has the project prepared acceptable 
terms of reference for an annual project 
audit? 

Yes,unqualified (Wajar Tanpa 
Pengecualian/WTP) 
 

No significant risk 

7.    Reporting and Monitoring   
7.1  Are financial statements prepared for 

the entity? In accordance with which 
accounting standards? 

SAI, SAKPA, SIMAK BMN. Yes appropriate 
for standards 

No significant risk 

7.2  Are financial statements prepared for 
the implementing unit? 

Project report  
FMR dan FISSA 

No significant risk 

7.3  What is the frequency of preparation of 
financial statements? Are the reports 
prepared in a timely fashion so as to 
useful to management for decision 
making?  

Monthly, quarterly, and annually. 
Yes Usefull 
 

No significant risk 

7.4  Does the reporting system need to be 
adapted to report on the project 
components? 

No  
 

No significant risk 
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7.5  Does the reporting system have the 

capacity to link the financial information 
with the project's physical progress? If 
separate systems are used to gather 
and compile physical data, what 
controls are in place to reduce the risk 
that the physical data may not 
synchronize with the financial data? 

Yes,The reporting system is integrated 
between the physical and financial 
realization of the project. Physical data are 
usually higher because of financial data is 
constrained problem disbursement 
 

No significant risk 

7.6  Does the project have established 
financial management reporting 
responsibilities that specify what 
reports are to be prepared, what they 
are to contain, and how they are to be 
used? 

Yes No significant risk 

7.7  Are financial management reports used 
by management? 

Yes  
 

No significant risk 

7.8  Do the financial reports compare actual 
expenditures with budgeted and 
programmed allocations? 

Yes No significant risk 

7.9  Are financial reports prepared directly 
by the automated accounting system or 
are they prepared by spreadsheets or 
some other means? 

Partly will be done by spreadsheets 
 

No significant risk 

8.    Information Systems   
8.1  Is the financial management system 

computerized? 
Yes No significant risk 

8.2  Can the system produce the necessary 
project financial reports? 

Yes  
 

No significant risk 

8.3  Is the staff adequately trained to 
maintain the system? 

Yes No significant risk 

8.4  Does the management organization 
and processing system safeguard the 
confidentiality, integrity and availability 
of the data? 

Yes No significant risk 
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Appendix 2 
 

Financial Management Assessment Questionnaire 

 Ministry of Transportation 

 
Topic Questions Answers 

Accounting 
Policies and 
Procedures 

• What is the basis of accounting (e.g., 
cash, accrual) followed (i) by MOT  (ii) 
By the project?  

• What accounting standards are 
followed?  

• Does MOT have an accounting 
system that allows for the proper 
recording of project financial 
transactions, including the allocation 
of expenditures in accordance with 
the respective components, 
disbursement categories, and 
sources of funds? Will the project use 
MOT accounting system? If not, what 
accounting system will be used for the 
project?  

• Does MOT maintain contract-wise 
accounting records to indicate gross 
value of contract, and any 
amendments, variations and 
escalations, payments made, and 
undisbursed balances?  Are the 
records consistent with physical 
outputs/deliverables of the contract?  

• Are controls in place concerning the 
preparation and approval of 
transactions, ensuring that all 
transactions are correctly made and 
adequately explained?  

 
• Describe any previous audit findings 

that have not been addressed?  

• (i) the basis of accounting by MOT is accrual 
basis  
(ii) the basis of accounting by the project is 
accrual basis 

 
• The accounting standard is SAP (Standar 

Akuntansi Pemerintah) based on the 
Government Regulation of Republic Indonesia 
(PP No 71 Tahun 2010 tentang Standar 
Akuntansi Pemerintahan) 

 
• MOT has a regulation about accounting system 

that allows for the proper recording of project 
financial statement based on PM 80 of 2014 
concerning Procedures for Administration of 
Budget Implementation including physical 
outputs. 

 
• Accounting records of contracts are managed 

by Project management Unit. At the end of the 
project, the record will be reported to Minister of 
Transportation. 

 
 
 

• Any transactions are controlled by a Project 
Management Unit and will be audited by internal 
auditor and external auditor based on applicable 
laws. 

 
 
 

• There are no previous audit findings that have 
not been addressed 

Staffing and 
Segregation of 
Duties 

• What is the current organizational 
structure of the accounting 
department?  

 
• Will existing staff be assigned to the 

project, or will new staff be recruited?  
 
• Describe the existing or proposed 

project accounting staff, including job 
title, responsibilities, educational 
background and professional 
experience.  

 

• Organizational structure is set in the MOT 
Regulation Number PM 189 of 2015 concerning 
Organization and Administration of the Ministry 
of Transportation such as Head of Finance 
Divison, Subdivision Head of Budget, 
Subdivision Head of Treasury, and Subdivision 
Head of Accounting. 

 
• Project accounting staff will be within the 

existing accounting division with relevant 
professional background.  
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• Are the following functional 
responsibilities performed by different 
units or persons: (i) authorization to 
execute a transaction; (ii) recording of 
the transaction; (iii) custody of assets 
involved in the transaction; (iv) 
reconciliation of bank accounts and 
subsidiary ledgers?  

 
• Are the functions of ordering, 

receiving, accounting for, and paying 
for goods and services appropriately 
segregated?  

• Project accounting staff has relevant academic 
and training back ground in field of finance or 
accounting which shall pass treasurer training 
and certified by Human Resources 
Development Agency of MoT. 

 
• Those functional responsibilities are performed 

by different units or person, those are: 
(i) Project Director 
(ii) Project Management Unit 
(iii) General Affairs Division 
(iv) Project Management Unit – these 

should be DG accountants 
 

• The functions of ordering, receiving, accounting 
for, and paying for goods and services are 
appropriately segregated.  

External Audit • Is MOT’s and DGST’s financial 
statement audited regularly by an 
independent auditor? Who is the 
auditor?  

• Are there any delays in audit of 
MOT/DGST? When are the audit 
reports issued?  

• Is the audit conducted in accordance 
with the International Standards on 
Auditing, or the International 
Standards for Supreme Audit 
Institutions, or national auditing 
standards?  

• Were there any major accountability 
issues noted in the audit report for the 
past three years?   

 
• Has the external auditor expressed 

any issues on the availability of 
complete records and supporting 
documents?  

• Are there any material issues noted 
during the review of the audited entity 
financial statements that were not 
reported in the external audit report?  

• Is the project subject to any kind of 
audit from an independent 
governmental entity (e.g. the supreme 
audit institution) in addition to the 
external audit?  

 
• Are there any recommendations 

made by the auditors in prior audit 
reports or management letters that 
have not yet been implemented?  

• Financial statements are audited annually. The 
external auditor is BPK (the Supreme Audit 
Board) 

 
• There are no delays in audit of MoT/DGST, The 

audit reports are issued every year by June. 
 

• The audit standard follows the Auditing 
Standards for the Audit of the Accountability of 
State Finance applied by BPK. 

 
• The major accountability issued that are noted 

such as the over volume, not compliance to the 
requested specification, delays of project 
implementation, etc. 

 
• Auditor findings were related to lack of progress 

reports.  
 

• In the final report, the issues are noted and 
reported 

 
 

 
 
 
 

• The project is subject to external audit only 
which is within the mandate of BPK as the 
independent/external auditor.  

 
 

• There are some recommendations made by the 
auditors in prior audit reports that have not yet 
been implemented, but it is 
addressed/implemented through the annual 
reconciliation  
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Internal Audit • Is there an internal audit department 
in MOT and, if so, what are 
qualifications/experience of its staff?  

 
• To whom does head of internal audit 

report?  
 
• Are actions taken on internal audit 

findings?  
 
• Will internal audit include the 

proposed project in its annual 
workplan?  

• The audit department in MoT is the Inspectorate 
General whose the qualification of its internal 
auditor are set by BPKP. Internal auditor must 
be certified as Internal Auditor Function 
(Jabatan Fungsional Auditor) which entails 
different level of certification (from team 
member to team leader).  

 
• The internal audit report will be submitted to the 

Minister of Transportation and the related 
Directorate General.  

 
• Yes. After the finding are reported, it needs to 

be addressed by 60 days. 
• Yes. The internal audit will include the proposed 

project in its annual workplan. 
Information 
Systems 

• Is the financial accounting and 
reporting system computerized?  

• Which system is being used?  
• Is the computerized software used for 

directly generating periodic financial 
statements, or does it require manual 
intervention and use of Excel or 
similar spreadsheet software?  

• Can the system automatically 
produce the necessary project 
financial reports?  

• Based on PMK 222/PMK.05/2016 tentang 
Sistem Akuntansi dan Pelaporan Keuangan 
Pemerintah Pusat DGST is using computerized 
financial accounting and reporting system. 

 
• The system is being used is SAIBA (Sistem 

Akuntansi Instansi Berbasis Akrual)  
 

• DGST is using computerized application 
(software) that is capable to directly generate 
periodic financial statements.  

 
• The system automatically generates the   

necessary project financial reports for example 
Balance sheet, operational statement, 
statement of equity 
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